

THE REPUBLIC OF UGANDA

MINISTRY OF WATER AND ENVIRONMENT

Uganda National Climate Change Policy

PART I MAIN POLICY

FINAL VERSION FOR APPROVAL

Table of Contents

Foreword	iv
Executive Summary	v
Acronyms	xii
1 Introduction and International Background for the Climate Change	Policy1
1.1 Climate Change and Its Impacts Internationally and Regional	ly1
1.2 International Agreements and National Commitments on Cli	mate Change3
1.3 Climate change and Achievement of the National Vision and	National Development Objectives 4
2 Why Climate Change matters to Uganda - The Rationale and Scop	e for the National Climate Change Policy
6	
2.1 Climate Change in Uganda	6
2.2 Impact of climate change on the economy and development	6
2.3 Costs Benefit Analysis of addressing Climate Change through	Policy7
2.3.1 The Cost of Inaction	8
2.3.2 Benefits of addressing climate change through this policy	9
2.4 The Rationale for the National Climate Change Policy	10
2.5 The Scope of the Policy	11
3 Policy framework	13
3.1 The Goal	13
3.2 The Main Objective	13
3.3 Specific Objectives	13
3.4 The Guiding Policy Principles	13
3.4.1 Mainstreaming and Coordinated Response to Climate Cha	nge13
3.4.2 Communicating Effectively and Promoting Participatory A	pproaches14
3.4.3 Promoting Community-Based Approaches to Adaptation .	14
3.4.4 Devoting Adequate Attention to Capacity Development an	nd Institutional Set-Ups14
3.4.5 Devoting Adequate Attention to Technology Needs, Devel	opment and Transfer14
3.4.6 Identifying, Developing and Influencing Financing Mechan	isms14
3.4.7 Providing a Credible Delivery Structure	14
3.4.8 Addressing Cross-Cutting Issues	15
4 Policy Directions	16
4.1 Common Policy Priorities	16
4.2 Adaptation	17
4.2.1 Sector-Specific Priorities	17
4.2.2 Cross-Cutting Priorities	27
4.3 Mitigation	28
4.3.1 Sector-Specific Priorities	28
4.3.2 Cross-Cutting Priorities	37
4.4 Monitoring, Detection, Attribution and Prediction	38
5 Implementation Arrangements – From Policy to Action	40
5.1 Institutional Arrangements and Legal Framework	40
5.1.1 The Focal Climate Change Institution	40
5.1.2 Other Key Coordinating Ministries and Authorities	41
5.1.3 Ministries, Departments and Agencies	42
5.1.4 At the Decentralised Level – Local Governments	43
5.1.5 Collaboration and Coordination	43

5.2	Legal and Regulatory Framework	44
5.2.1	Amending the National Environment Act, 1995	45
5.3	Climate Change Law	46
5.4	Financing and Resource Mobilisation	47
6 Mon	itoring, Reporting and Evaluation	48
Annex A:	Glossary	50
Annex B:	Organisational Chart	53

Foreword

(Proposed text)

As this policy clearly shows, climate change will affect us all, through its impacts on different crucial aspects of our lives.

Uganda's 2010–2015 five-year National Development Plan already recognises that addressing the challenges of climate change is key to enhancing sustainable economic and social development.

This long-awaited policy and its accompanying costed implemented strategy are intended to guide all climate change activities and interventions in the country. The goal of the policy is to ensure a harmonised and coordinated approach towards a climate-resilient and low-carbon development path for sustainable development in Uganda.

The overarching objective of the policy is to ensure that all stakeholders address climate change impacts and their causes through appropriate measures, while promoting sustainable development and a green economy.

This buy-in by all stakeholders is made possible by the fact that this policy was developed after a comprehensive and widespread consultation process at both the national and local levels. The process was driven by the Climate Change Unit, under the Ministry of Water and Environment.

I express my sincere gratitude to the many stakeholders, which include non-governmental organisations, community-based organisations, private sector associations, district authorities, academia, development partners and of course the various government ministries, departments and agencies, for their commitment, time and knowledge contributed during the development of this policy. Thanks are also due to the multi-stakeholder Technical Working Group that accompanied this process. The contribution of all these stakeholders and their active involvement in the policy development process has ensured that the policy is coherent, comprehensive, feasible and in line with the country's needs and priorities.

I also want to take this opportunity to thank the team of international and national consultants who supported this consultation process and the Climate Change Unit throughout the policy development process for their hard work. Special thanks also go to the Royal Danish Embassy, the Belgium Technical Cooperation, the UK Department for International Development and the World Bank, for supporting the process financially.

I look forward to following closely with all of you the implementation process for this milestone policy, a process in which we all have a role to play to address this challenge effectively.

Minister of Water and Environment

Republic of Uganda

Executive Summary

Introduction and International Background for National Climate Change Policy

Climate change is a global challenge that requires a concerted effort by all nations. This National Climate Change Policy (NCCP) is Uganda's integrated response to climate change. It has been prepared and designed within the context of the country's development vision and national development priorities; it provides a clearly defined pathway for dealing with the challenges of climate change within the current socio-economic context of Uganda, and looks ahead to the opportunities and benefits of a green economy.

Climate Change and Its Impacts Internationally and Regionally

Climate change is one of the greatest challenges facing humanity this century, as the Earth's near-surface temperatures continue to rise. Climate change is likely to disrupt the Earth's ecological systems and to have serious negative consequences for agricultural production, forests, water supply, health systems and overall human development. Vulnerable populations (mainly the poor and most marginalised, including children, women and people with disabilities in developing countries) are particularly poorly equipped to cope with the adverse impacts of climate change. As temperatures throughout East Africa rise, precipitation is expected to increase, along with the frequency and intensity of droughts, floods, heat waves and landslides. Scientists predict that the rate of climate change will be more rapid than previously expected.

International Agreements and National Commitments on Climate Change: The global nature of climate change necessitates widespread cooperation and participation in an international response. By signing and ratifying both the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) and the Kyoto Protocol, Uganda has committed to the adoption and implementation of policies and measures designed to mitigate climate change and adapt to its impacts. At the regional level, the climate change policy for the East African Community urges member countries to develop consistent national policies to ensure harmonised action. The global consensus under UNFCCC is implemented according to each country's greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and ability to address the problems. In Uganda, the development of a national climate change policy and implementation strategy will enable the country to fulfil its obligations under the convention, and therefore to contribute to addressing this global problem. Uganda's five-year National Development Plan (2010-2015) already recognises that addressing the challenges of climate change is crucial to enhancing sustainable economic and social development. With support from the governments of Denmark, Belgium, as well as from the United Kingdom through the World Bank, the Ugandan Ministry of Water and Environment has coordinated the development of the Uganda National Climate Change Policy through extensive consultations with a wide range of national and local stakeholders. The policy is intended to guide all climate change activities and interventions in the country.

Climate change and Achievement of the National Vision and National Development Objectives: Achieving long-term sustainable economic growth in the face of climate change is a primary concern. The Government of Uganda (GoU) is already taking climate change and its impact on development seriously through its development planning framework. Uganda's five-year National Development Plan (NDP) 2010–2015 recognizes that most of the key economic sectors (in particular agriculture, forestry and energy) will be affected by climate change and as a result climate change will negatively affect the national economy. Uganda Vision 2040, the long-term term development blue print for the country – aims at transforming Uganda from a predominantly peasant and low income country to a competitive upper middle income country.

Vision 20140 recognizes that climate change affects all sectors of Uganda's economy, making the need for preparedness inevitable through adaptation and mitigation strategies in all sectors to ensure that the country is resilient to the adverse impact of climate change. In addition is developing

guidelines for incorporating climate change in sectoral and local government plans and budgets is recognised. A climate change resilient and low carbon climate development pathway, as set out in this *National Climate Change Policy (NCCP)* can help meet Vision 2040's goals through strategies and actions that address both sustainable development and climate change. This pathway can also help the Government achieve the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) and other internationally agreed development goals without compromising the environment and the natural resource base.

Key Issues on Climate Change in Uganda: Rationale for and Scope of for the National Climate Change Policy

Climate Change in Uganda: The average temperature in semi-arid climates in Uganda is rising, especially in the southwest. The frequency of hot days has increased while the frequency of cold days has decreased. As a result, the malaria parasite is spreading into new areas of the country, and the ice caps on the Rwenzori Mountains have shrunk significantly. Changing temperature patterns in Uganda have been linked with more frequent and longer lasting droughts and consequent increased cattle death. Rainfall has decreased and become less predictable and less evenly distributed. Floods, landslides, droughts and other extreme weather events are increasing in frequency and intensity. Uganda's economy is particularly vulnerable to climate change given its heavy reliance on its natural resource base. Droughts have significantly affected water resources, hydroelectricity production and agriculture, among many other sectors.

Costs and Benefits of addressing climate Change through policy: Uganda cannot afford to choose between addressing climate change and promoting development; the two are interlinked and will become increasingly so over the foreseeable future. Building climate resilience or increasing the ability to adapt to climate change in as a low carbon way as possible will help Uganda achieve sustainable development and the Vision 2040 goals. This will also guarantees every Ugandan the right to a clean and healthy environment as provided for in the Uganda Constitution, 1995. An integrated climate resilient and low carbon development pathway emphasizes sustainable development, adaptation and mitigation

Climate change impacts will be economically significant, especially for African countries, and investment to address climate change is well worth undertaking. Climate change is likely to impact Uganda's microeconomic stability and socioeconomic development, as well as its ability to achieve the Millennium Development Goals. Key production sectors most affected by climate are agriculture, water, energy and transport. As agriculture, forestry and fisheries decline, people migrate to urban areas, leading to the formation of slums.

Uganda's NCCP will guide efforts towards the attainment of Vision 2040 and encourage people-centred sustainable development ensuring that climate change actions help the country move towards long-term development goals. Low carbon climate resilient development can bring benefits including: enhancing sustainable development, improving lives of the poor and vulnerable, building adaptive capacity, disaster risk reduction, contributing towards the implementation of the Constitution of Uganda, 1995, attracting international climate finance, technology and capacity building, leveraging investment, and demonstrating regional and global leadership.

Rationale for and Scope of the Policy: A policy response to climate change in Uganda is crucial for reducing the country's vulnerability to climate change, and it is the most appropriate way to adjust to and cope with the projected impacts of climate change on the nation. Uganda must also address the causes of climate change. Actions on climate change undertaken in Uganda have tended to be scattered and uncoordinated, with inappropriate institutional framework to ensure effective

coordination. Financing for climate action must be mobilised and scaled up significantly in Uganda, a process which will be facilitated by an overarching national climate change policy framework.

A policy designed to tackle the challenge of climate change in Uganda must be as multi-sectoral as the problem itself. This policy provides direction for key sectors to facilitate adaptation and strengthen efforts towards building an overarching, more resilient national development process. This policy is a "living" document; it will require revisions in the medium term as Uganda's development path evolves and our knowledge increases. The policy provides a framework for coordinated action, with attention to capacity requirements and the development of financial mechanisms. This policy will be the guiding document behind the development of a national costed implementation strategy that will detail actions by sector and designate tools to be prioritised.

Policy Framework

The goal of the policy is to ensure a harmonised and coordinated approach towards a climate-resilient and low-carbon development path for sustainable development in Uganda.

The overarching objective of the policy is to ensure that all stakeholders address climate change impacts and their causes through appropriate measures, while promoting sustainable development and a green economy.

To achieve this overarching objective, the policy builds on a number of more *specific objectives*:

- 1. To identify and promote common policy priorities to address climate change in Uganda
- 2. To identify and promote adaptation policy responses for Uganda
- 3. To identify and promote mitigation policy responses for Uganda
- 4. To identify and promote monitoring, detection, attribution and prediction policy responses for Uganda
- 5. To support the integration of climate change issues into planning, decision making and investments in all sectors and trans-sectoral themes through appropriate institutional arrangements and legal framework
- 6. To facilitate the mobilisation of financial resources to address climate change in Uganda

The Guiding Policy Principles

A number of key principles have guided the development of this policy, namely:

- Mainstreaming and coordinated response to climate change
- Communicating effectively and promoting participatory approaches
- Promoting community-based approaches to adaptation
- Devoting adequate attention to capacity development and institutional set-ups
- Devoting adequate attention to technology needs, development and transfer
- Identifying, developing and influencing financing mechanisms
- Providing a credible delivery structure
- Addressing cross-cutting issues

Policy Directions

The *Uganda National Climate Change Policy* is based on the following priority concerns: adaptation, mitigation, and research and observation. Like the EAC regional policy, this national policy emphasises climate change adaptation as the top priority for Uganda, while mitigation efforts are embraced by the policy as secondary.

Some common policy priorities for both adaptation and mitigation concerns are mentioned below, followed by policy priorities specific to each concern.

Common Policy Priorities: In particular, the Government of Uganda (GoU) must:

- Provide adequate support for policies and programmes that take into account the interactions between population dynamics, climate change and development
- Provide proper support for the information sharing and research that is required to better understand the impacts of climate change in Uganda and the vulnerabilities of particular groups and populations
- Support education, awareness raising and capacity development for a range of stakeholders (government, academics, civil society and private sector) contributing to the national development process, from the local level to the national level
- Promote research and development, transfer and diffusion of technology through the use of appropriate information sharing, incentive schemes and support mechanisms, as relevant to the various sectors concerned
- Mainstream gender issues in climate change adaptation and mitigation approaches in order to reduce the vulnerability of women and children to the impacts of climate change and recognise their key role in tackling this issue.

Adaptation Policy Priorities: With respect to adaptation, GoU must pursue the following priorities for the different sectors and themes identified:

Agriculture and Livestock

- To promote climate change adaptation strategies that enhance resilient, productive and sustainable agricultural systems
- To promote value addition and improve food storage and management systems in order to ensure food security at all times, as a factor of resilience

Water

 To support on-going efforts to ensure that climate change concerns are integrated into national efforts for sustainable and long-term conservation, access and effective utilisation and management of water resources

Fisheries and Aquaculture

• To strengthen efforts to promote integrated fisheries resource management and improve aquaculture in order to ensure sustainable fisheries production

Transport and Works

 To develop and ensure integrated planning and management of transport and other physical infrastructure that build on insights from climate predictions

Forestry

 To ensure the sustainable management of forestry resources so that they can continue to provide global services, including mitigating climate change, while supporting the sustainable development needs of communities and the country

Wetlands

To promote long-term wetland conservation and restoration of degraded wetlands so that they
can continue to provide global services, including mitigating climate change, while supporting
the sustainable development needs of communities and the country

Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services

 To effectively address the challenges posed by climate change impacts on biodiversity and ecosystems, so as to ensure ecosystem health and provision of ecosystem services that are crucial to sustainable and resilient development

Health

• To strengthen adaptive mechanisms and enhance early-warning systems and adequate preparedness for climate change—related diseases

Energy

• To promote sustainable energy access and utilisation as a means of sustainable development in the face of uncertainties related to climate change

Wildlife and Tourism

• To ensure the conservation of wildlife resources and plan for improved resilience of tourism resources and infrastructure to climate change

Human Settlements and Social Infrastructure

 To promote the urban planning and development of human settlements that are resilient and robust enough to withstand climate change—related risks and hazards

Disaster Risk Management

 To ensure disaster mitigation and adequate preparedness for climate change-induced risks, hazards and disasters

Cross-cutting Priority: Vulnerable Groups

 To give special attention to the improvement of the resilience of vulnerable groups to climate change

Mitigation Policy Priorities: With respect to mitigation, GoU must pursue the following priorities for the different sectors and themes identified:

LULUCF (Land Use, Land-Use Change and Forestry)

This sector covers a broad area that includes land-use change and forestry.

Forestry

With a view to protecting and promoting carbon sinks:

- To continue and step up efforts targeted at effective forest management
- To make a deliberate departure from "business as usual" by formulating sectoral policies that address issues associated with increased unit productivity in plantation forestry
- To promote and develop afforestation and reforestation programmes in non-forested areas and intensify afforestation and reforestation efforts in other areas

Land Use and Land-Use Change

- To promote and enforce urban and rural planning of settlements
- To control and monitor land development and other land-use changes in a sustainable manner so as to better manage GHG sources and sinks

Reduced Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation+ (REDD+)

To continue to actively promote joint REDD+ efforts involving the public and private sectors

Wetlands

 To promote a balance between conservation and sustainable use of wetlands to reduce GHG emissions

Agriculture

• To mainstream climate change mitigation issues in the efforts underway to promote and improve the management of natural resources, in order to ensure resilient, productive and sustainable agricultural systems with reduced GHG emissions

Energy Generation

 To support and accelerate the implementation of the Renewable Energy Policy (REP), in particular with respect to the promotion and development of new clean energy technologies in order to reduce GHG

Energy Utilisation

- To promote conservation and efficient utilisation of energy to reduce GHG emissions, especially at consumer levels (industries, households, commercial and institutional buildings)
- To encourage the use of alternative fuels instead of heavily relying on biomass

Transport

- To promote the development, approval and effective implementation of a long-term national transport policy and plan that will take GHG mitigation concerns into account
- To effect a gradual shift to the use of less carbon-intensive fuels (including compressed natural gas, ethanol and LPG) in vehicles instead of relying heavily on gasoline and diesel fuels
- To promote modes of transport that take GHG emission reduction into account

Waste Management

• To promote sustainable use of solid and liquid wastes for energy generation and other uses, such as fertilisers (after sorting)

Industrial Sector

• To promote cleaner production processes in industries to contain the increase in GHG emissions

Cross-cutting Priorities: Technology transfer and the large-scale diffusion of clean, low-carbon technologies

- To put in place functioning institutions that can manage and coordinate issues related to the transfer, deployment and diffusion of technology, including the promotion of the capacity development necessary to support the implementation of clean and low-carbon technologies
- To encourage technological development to address the problem of climate change in sectors of economic development with high emissions

Monitoring, Detection, Attribution and Prediction

Policy Priority

 GoU must continue its on-going efforts to strengthen the capacity of the Department of Meteorology in its functions in climate change monitoring and detection in Uganda

Implementation Arrangements – From Policy to Action

Institutional Arrangements

The Focal Climate Change Institution: Various institutional structures will play different roles, and a national coordination function will be assigned to a created National climate Change Commission (NCCC). The CCU will be elevated to the level of a National Commission (the NCCC) under the Ministry of Water and Environment. The main functions of the NCCC are described in the Policy.

Other Key Coordinating Ministries and Authorities: In addition to the NCCC, three national ministries or authorities will have a specific role to play in national coordination to ensure policy implementation: The Ministry of Finance, Planning and Economic Development, The National Planning Authority, and The Ministry of Local Government. Their respective coordination functions are also described in the Policy.

Other Ministries, Departments and Agencies: Each of the numerous ministries, departments and agencies with a role to play in the implementation of the policy responses outlined in this document will designate a departmental focal point and will be accountable for the implementation of the prescribed policy responses that concern them. The Implementation Strategy will detail the accountabilities of the various ministries, departments and agencies concerned around indicative climate change programmes to be detailed in the Strategy. They will be expected to report on their progress in the implementation of their respective tasks and in the attainment of their expected results. On the basis of these reports, the NCCC will be tasked with preparing a consolidated progress report on the overall implementation of the policy.

At the Decentralised Level: A similar management arrangement will be mirrored at the district level. While the climate change focal point will be anchored within the Natural Resources Department of the District Local Government, all departments will ensure that climate change issues are integrated into District Development Plans. Provision will be made in district-level Indicative Planning Figures for each sector to ensure they can address climate change policy priorities, along with the setting of relevant performance indicators. The existing Environment Committee at the district level will act as a mechanism to ensure cross-sectoral coordination.

Collaboration and Coordination: In addition to the NCCC's facilitation function, this coordination will require multi-stakeholder mechanisms. Two such mechanisms will be established: the Policy Committee on Environment (PCE) will be strengthened to coordinate policy implementation and ensure information flow on resource allocation for the implementation of the policy, and a National Climate Change Advisory Committee will ensure working level coordination and provide technical input to the National Climate Change Policy Committee. The work of these two coordination mechanisms will be guided by the Implementation Strategy. The objective of the Implementation Strategy will be to enable more effective planning and coordination.

Legal and regulatory framework

There is need for a legal and regulatory framework for climate that provides legitimacy, regulate conduct and establish sanctions that can ensure compliance. Absence of such a framework is an obstacle in translating the identified policy priorities into implementable actions with tangible climate change benefits. Already, the Constitution provides a regulatory framework for the implementation of the Policy. The Uganda National Development Plan 2010/11–2014/15 mainstreams climate change into the development plans, policies and budgets of all sectors. Although some policies and laws like in the disaster preparedness and management and the health and environment sectors tackle climate change; effective implementation of the policy will likely require new legislations and also updating existing legal instruments. Two options are provided, amending the National environment Act, 1995 to cater for climate change; and enacting an overarching standalone Climate Change Law to facilitate the direction, coordination and governance and high level political prioritisation of climate change policy and practice.

Financing and Resource Mobilisation

A detailed estimate of the costs for implementing the climate change policy measures was carried out as part of the development of the costed Implementation Strategy. Since a number of the strategic directions to be supported fall under sectoral work plans, the costing exercise focuses on

the purely additional cost due to the integration of climate change into the various sector plans. The costed Strategy also examines the financial instruments best suited to support strategic measures and actions, to provide guidance for policy implementation. The costed Strategy can then be used by the various partners to make decisions as to which priority investments to support. Funding for these policy priorities will come from various sources, including national and sectoral investment plans and budgets, private sector investment, multilateral and bilateral donor support and market-based mechanisms, including payment for environmental services schemes.

Monitoring and Evaluation, and Policy Enforcement

The full Monitoring and Evaluation Framework for the implementation of this policy builds on the draft costed Implementation Strategy developed. The Framework is clearly linked to the planned outcomes and outputs of this strategy and the road map it proposes and will be instrumental in ensuring the full implementation of the policy by the various stakeholders involved. The concept of 'Measurement, Reporting and Verification' (MRV) which emerged from international climate negotiations, is relevant for Uganda, when receiving international support for its voluntary contributions to tackle climate change. The development of relevant gender sensitive indicators as part of Uganda's monitoring and reporting system is also crucial.

The implementation of the policy will undergo an independent external evaluation in 5 years' time. The recommendations resulting from this evaluation will then feed into the revision process for the policy. This revision is to be carried out based on a thorough public consultation process and review of the results at that point in time.

Acronyms

CCU Climate Change Unit

CCD Climate Change Department

CDM Clean Development Mechanism

CO₂ Carbon dioxide

DSIP Development Strategy and Investment Plan

EAC East African Community

EIA Environmental Impact Assessment

FAO Food and Agriculture Organization

GDP gross domestic product

GEF Global Environment Facility

GHG greenhouse gas

GoU Government of Uganda

GSI geotechnical site investigation

HIV/AIDS human immunodeficiency virus infection/acquired immunodeficiency syndrome

ICPD International Conference on Population and Development

IGAD Intergovernmental Authority on Development

INC Initial National Communication

IPCC Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change

LPG liquefied petroleum gas

LULUCF land use, land-use change and forestry

M&E Monitoring and Evaluation

MAAIF Ministry of Agriculture, Animal Industry and Fisheries

MDG Millennium Development Goal

MoFPED Ministry of Finance, Planning and Economic Development

MoLG Ministry of Local Government

MoWT Ministry of Works and Transport

MRV Monitoring, Reporting and Verification

MWE Ministry of Water and Environment

NAADS national agriculture advisory services

NAP National Agricultural Policy

NAPA National Adaptation Programme of Action

NCCC National climate Change Commission

NCCP National Climate Change Policy

NDP National Development Plan

NEMA National Environment Management Authority

NPA National Planning Authority

PCE Policy Committee on Environment

PMA Plan for Modernisation of Agriculture

R&D Research and development

REDD Reduced Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation

REP Renewable Energy Policy

UN United Nations

UNEP United Nations Environment Programme

UNFCCC United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

UNFPA United Nations Population Fund

US\$ United States dollars

1 Introduction and International Background for the Climate Change Policy

1.1 Climate Change and Its Impacts Internationally and Regionally

It is universally accepted that climate change is one of the greatest challenges facing humanity this century, and as a global challenge it requires global solutions. The threat of climate change is multidimensional and its impacts transcend national borders. Projections by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) indicate that if green house gas emissions continue to rise at their current pace, the world will be faced with a disastrous

future in the form of sea-level rise, shifts in growing seasons, biodiversity loss, as well as increased frequency and intensity of extreme weather; such as heat waves, storms, floods and droughts. Developing countries, particularly those in Africa and generally the poor and marginalized, will be those most affected, even though the largest share of historical and current global emissions of greenhouse gases originated in developed countries.

The economy of Uganda is highly vulnerable to climate change due to its impacts on key sectors such as agriculture, fisheries, water resources, forestry, energy, health, infrastructure and settlements. This necessitates policy actions to build climate change resilience and climate compatible development through climate change adaptation and mitigation, while at the same time promoting economic and social development.

Climate Change - A change of climate which is attributed directly or indirectly to human activity, that alters the composition of the global atmosphere and which is in addition to natural climate variability observed over comparable time periods (UNFCCC website)

Adaptation - Adjustment in natural or human systems in response to actual or expected climatic stimuli or their effects, which moderates harm or exploit beneficial opportunities

Mitigation – A human intervention to reduce the sources or enhance the sinks of greenhouse gases

Social development - Process of planned social change designed to promote the well-being of the population as a whole in conjunction with a dynamic process of economic development

Climate change causes global warming, an increase in the Earth's temperature due to an increase in heat-trapping gases, referred to as greenhouse gases (GHGs). The Earth's near-surface temperatures are now about 0.6°C higher than they were in the 1850s, during the pre-industrial era. The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC—the United Nations—sponsored scientific body on climate change) predicts the following climate change trends on the global scale:

- The average air temperature between 2090 and 2099 will be 1.8°C to 4°C higher than was the average temperature between 1980 and 1999
- The increase in surface temperature will be greater over land than over the ocean
- Sea ice and snow cover will continue to contract and shrink because of melting due to high temperatures (Increased ocean temperatures at depths of at least 3000 m have been recorded since 1961)

- The sea level will rise by 1.8–3.1 mm/year during the period from 1990 to 2100
- Droughts will become longer and more intense due to higher temperatures and decreased precipitation
- Precipitation levels will become more variable
- Extreme events such as heat waves, tropical cyclones, heavy precipitation and high temperature extremes will become more frequent

Greenhouse Gas (GHG)

Any gas that absorbs infrared radiation in the atmosphere; Greenhouse gases include, carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide, ozone, chlorofluorocarbons, hydrochlorofluorocarbons, hydrofluorocarbons, perfluorocarbons, sulfur hexafluoride.

Carbon Dioxide Equivalent (CO2 eq)

A metric measure used to compare the emissions from various greenhouse gases based upon their global warming potential (GWP). Carbon dioxide equivalents are commonly expressed as mega tons (millions of tons) of carbon dioxide equivalents.

Source: US EPA

The effects of climatic change occur at all levels (global, regional and local). Globally, climate change is likely to adversely affect the ability of physical and biological systems to sustain human development, including socioeconomic development. Yet the global population is increasing, expected to reach the nine billion mark by 2045. According to the United Nations Population Fund International Conference on Population and Development (UNFPA ICPD), the world's ability to meet the basic human needs of its growing populations will continue to heavily depend on a healthy environment. Climate change is likely to disrupt the Earth's ecological systems and to reduce the benefits derived from ecosystem goods and services; with serious negative consequences for agricultural production, forests, water supply, health systems and overall human development. Crop failures and other negative agricultural impacts will affect world food availability, accessibility and utilisation, as well as the stability of food systems, hence negatively affecting human quality of life. Food insecurity, in turn, is likely to influence world food markets. For example, food shortages may lead to high food prices. Vulnerable populations (mainly the poor and most marginalised, including children, women and people with disabilities in developing countries) are particularly poorly equipped to cope with the adverse impacts of climate change, because they have a low capacity to respond (i.e., to mitigate or adapt).

The pressure on our water resources is already significant, and it is increasing along with human populations, particularly in urban areas, where populations are steadily becoming more concentrated (mainly poor populations in slum areas). The degraded rural landscapes are unable to provide adequate water to the growing population. The regions that are most vulnerable to domestic water shortages include those where access to water is already limited, the population is growing rapidly, urban centres are expanding and the economy is burdened by financial problems, increasing young unproductive populations and a lack of skilled workers. Even if the rapid global pace of water-supply development of the 1990s could be maintained, it would not be enough to ensure that everyone has access to safe drinking water by the year 2025.

At the regional level, East Africa experienced a warming of up to 1°C during the last century, and the model projections for future warming range from an increase of 2°C to 4°C or more by 2100.

Precipitation is expected to increase throughout East Africa, including in Uganda. The predicted increase is particularly large in the December-January-February period.

In East Africa, there is evidence of retreating glaciers, along with increased frequency and intensity of droughts, floods, heat waves and landslides. The ice cap on Mount Kilimanjaro has significantly melted (about 83% of the ice cap has been lost since 1912), as has a large portion of the ice cap on the Rwenzori Mountains. These ice caps are important sources of water for the communities living on the slopes of the mountains, so their disappearance will have significant negative impacts on the lives and livelihoods of rural communities (especially) and urban centres that rely on water from the ecosystems. Water stress will lead to increasingly poor livelihoods and rising mortality rates due to increasing water-borne diseases, malnutrition and burden on women and children as burden-holders for household needs.

Scientists predict that the rate of climate change will be more rapid than previously expected, and the adverse effects of climate change will disproportionately affect poor communities in poor countries. Serious efforts to develop adaptation technologies and strengthen the adaptation capacities of poor countries must be undertaken. However, the difference in capacity to adapt to climate change between developed and developing countries will dictate the extent to which targets for adaptation and mitigation will be achieved.

1.2 International Agreements and National Commitments on Climate Change

The global nature of climate change necessitates widespread cooperation and participation in an effective and appropriate international response comprising mitigation and adaptation measures based on the principles of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC). The convention provides an international framework for mitigating climate change at both the international and local levels. Uganda signed the UNFCCC on 13 June 1992 and ratified it on 8 September 1993. Uganda also ratified the Kyoto Protocol on 25 March 2002. The protocol provides the basis for an international response to the challenges of climate change. By signing and ratifying both the UNFCCC and the Kyoto Protocol, Uganda has committed to the adoption and implementation of policies and measures designed to mitigate climate change and adapt to its impacts.

Under these international agreements, Uganda benefits from funds and other support to facilitate mitigation and adaptation measures. In 1994, with funding and support from the Global Environment Facility (GEF) and the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), Uganda compiled a national inventory of greenhouse gas (GHG) sources and sinks, which was updated in 1995 under the US Country Studies Program. With continuing GEF support, the country developed and submitted its Initial National Communication (INC) to UNFCCC in 2002. The INC included a national GHG inventory system, an assessment of the country's status of vulnerability and adaptation to climate change, and recommendations for adapting to and mitigating climate change. Uganda is now preparing the Second National Communication. In 2007, in conformity with UNFCCC and under a grant from GEF through UNEP, Uganda developed and submitted its National Adaptation Programmes of Action (NAPA) to UNFCCC. The NAPA includes a list of nine priority projects, many of which are yet to be rolled out and implemented. The priorities highlighted in the NAPA have been taken into account in developing this policy.

At the regional level, the climate change policy for the East African Community (EAC) was adopted by member countries. This regional policy urges member countries to develop consistent national policies to ensure harmonised action throughout the EAC.

Although the UNFCCC has been agreed upon internationally by many parties, the effectiveness of its implementation still remains a challenge, partly because of the principle of common but differentiated responsibility. The global consensus under the UNFCCC is implemented at the national level according to each country's magnitude of GHG emissions and ability to address the problems. The development of a national climate change policy and implementation strategy will enable Uganda to fulfil its obligations under the convention, and therefore to contribute to addressing this global problem. To effectively address the challenge of climate change through policy requires an examination of how climate change manifests at the national and local level.

The Ministry of Water and Environment (MWE), through its Climate Change Unit (CCU), is the focal institution for the UNFCCC and has the responsibility of coordinating climate change issues in the country.

With support from the governments of Denmark and Belgium, as well as the World Bank, the Ugandan MWE, as part of its mandate as the focal institution for the UNFCCC, has coordinated the development of this draft of the *Uganda National Climate Change Policy (NCCP)* through extensive consultations with a wide range of national and local stakeholders. The policy is intended to guide all climate change activities and interventions in the country.

1.3 Climate change and Achievement of the National Vision and National Development Objectives

Achieving long-term sustainable economic growth in the face of climate change is a primary concern. The Government of Uganda (GoU) is already taking climate change and its impact on development seriously through its development planning framework. Climate change is also considered a crosscutting issue that has to be mainstreamed in all the sectors of the economy through the planning process.

Uganda's five-year National Development Plan (NDP) 2010/11–2014/15 recognizes that most of the key economic sectors (in particular agriculture, forestry and energy) will be affected by climate change and as a result climate change will negatively affect the national economy. The NDP emphasizes the need to address the challenges of climate change so as to enhance sustainable economic and social development in the country. Currently, the National Planning Authority (NPA is in the process of revising the NDP as part of the process of developing the next five year NDP 2015/16-2019/20. This revision provides an opportunity for mainstreaming climate change interventions into sectoral policies, plans and budgets. This National Climate Change Policy (NCCP) will guide the development of a NDP that mainstreams and strengthens climate change resilient and low carbon development pathways in all sectors of Uganda's economy and thereby promoting sustainable development.

Uganda Vision 2040, the long-term term development blue print for the country – aims at transforming Uganda from a predominantly peasant and low income country to a competitive upper middle income country. However, achievement of the long-term goals depends on opportunities and resources that are climate sensitive, including tourism, agriculture, water and energy resources. Therefore the predicted climate change and its impacts on Uganda will undermine unless the achievement of the National Visions if the climate challenge is not adequately addressed through policy and practice.

In particular Vision 20140 recognizes that:

 The achievement of sustainable development requires using resources to meet human needs while preserving the environment. However, for several decades, development has concentrated on improvement and advancement of economic, social cultural and political conditions and less on preserving the environment and will this has resulted into global

warming and other adverse environmental conditions associated with climate change.

 That climate change affects all sectors of Uganda's economy, making the need for preparedness inevitable: for example floods wash away roads and bridges; prolonged droughts affect agricultural productivity and food security, and reduce water levels affecting hydroelectricity generations; floods result into epidemics like cholera and malaria. Therefore sectors and local governments need to plan and adapt to climate change while undertaking mitigation measures.

- There is need to develop appropriate climate change adaptation and mitigation strategies in all sectors to ensure that the country is resilient to the adverse impact of climate change. In addition is developing guidelines for incorporating climate change in sectoral and local government plans and budgets.
- The need to put in place policies and organizational structures to address climate change at both national and local levels. Additionally, enabling strategies with legal instruments need to be put in place.
- There is need to increase climate change financing through both local and international financing. Government will continue to participate in, and benefit from, international arrangements on climate change focusing on how to tap on the available global climate change funding mechanisms while at the same time mobilizing local resources.
- The necessity for developing a comprehensive Monitoring and Evaluation mechanism incorporating climate change with clear milestones and analytical tools to guide the implementation of climate change activities among others.

A climate change resilient and low carbon climate development pathway, as set out in this National Climate Change Policy (NCCP) can help meet Vision 2040's goals through strategies and actions that address both sustainable development and climate change. This pathway can also help the Government achieve the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) and other internationally agreed development goals without compromising the environment and the natural resource base. The NCCP is expected to inform national development and policy decisions in all sectors of the economy.

A wide range of actors including Government Ministries Departments and Agencies (MDA), Development Partners, private sector and civil society organizations will contribute to the implementation of the NCCP. Since climate change planning is a cross-cutting and dynamic process, it is anticipated that the recommended strategies will be tracked continuously and revised and or updated in line with the national planning and budgetary processes.

2 Why Climate Change matters to Uganda - The Rationale and Scope for the National Climate Change Policy

2.1 Climate Change in Uganda

In Uganda, the average temperature in semi-arid climates is rising, especially in the southwest. Uganda's National Adaptation Programme of Action (NAPA) cites an average temperature increase of 0.28°C per decade in the country between 1960 and 2010, with the months of January and February most affected by this warming trend, averaging an increase of 0.37°C per decade. The frequency of hot days in the country has increased significantly, while the frequency of cold days has decreased. As a result, the malaria parasite is spreading into new areas of the country. Historical records of Uganda's glaciers show that the ice caps on the Rwenzori Mountains have shrunk significantly in the last 100 years. The percentage of ice loss is highest on Mount Baker (96%), followed by Mount Speke (91%). Mount Stanley has the lowest percentage of ice loss (68%). The changing temperature patterns in Uganda have been linked with drought and consequent increases in cattle deaths in the cattle corridor.

Changes in rainfall patterns are also being observed. Rainfall has decreased and become more unreliable and less evenly distributed. Recent years have seen erratic arrivals and endings of rainfall seasons, and individual rainfalls have been heavier and more violent. Floods and landslides are on the rise and are increasing in intensity. Since the year 2000, extreme rainfall conditions have been regularly experienced in Eastern Uganda, where there has been an increase of approximately 1500 mm of precipitation in the December to January rainy season. El Niño—Southern Oscillation events have also become shorter and more irregular.

Droughts are on the rise in Uganda. The western, northern and north-eastern regions have been experiencing more frequent and longer-lasting droughts than have been seen historically. Between 1991 and 2000, there were seven droughts in the Karamoja region, and major droughts also occurred in 2001, 2002, 2005 and 2008. Although there have always been droughts in Uganda, evidence suggests that they are becoming more frequent and more severe. In fact, the increased frequency and duration of droughts is the most significant climate-related change being experienced in Uganda.

2.2 Impact of climate change on the economy and development

Uganda is a Low Income country (as defined by the World Bank) with high growth but is also energy-hungry. It has been recognized that climate change and the cost of the climate change response presents a serious threat to the country's economic progress. Already, there is evidence on the impact of climate change on the national economy, with clear signs that the Lake Victoria region, the highlands, the semi-arid zones are affected. In particular, agriculture, water, biodiversity and energy resources are all affected. This affects the poverty reduction, health and livelihoods of the population, especially for women. Climate Change is already affecting national economic outputs and livelihoods and, therefore, Uganda's long-term development prospects.

Droughts have significantly affected water resources, hydroelectricity production and agriculture, among many other sectors. The high frequency of droughts has persisted since 2000, and Uganda particularly suffered in 2004/2005, when production of hydroelectricity declined substantially, throwing the country into a power crisis that undermined investment and slowed the country's economic growth. Evidence of the impact of drought on water resources is clear. Any decrease in the

water level of Lake Victoria is reflected in the hydroelectricity supplies produced by the two dams—Nalubale and Kiira—located downstream.

Uganda's economy is particularly vulnerable to climate change and variability, due to a number of specific factors:

- Reliance on exploitation of natural resources, particularly within the agricultural sector
- Heavy dependence on rain-fed agriculture
- Agriculture performance in Uganda fluctuates with changes in climate; consequently, gross domestic product (GDP) growth and inflation rates often correspond to seasonal rainfall
- A high population growth rate of 3.2% per year
- This high rate of growth, coupled with the high level of poverty, makes it difficult for Uganda to cope with the impacts of adverse effects of climate change
- An increasing population puts pressure on forests and wetlands, which may result in deforestation and wetland degradation, in turn contributing to increased GHG emissions
- A low per capita income of about US\$506 (NPA, 2010)
- As a poor country, Uganda cannot adequately finance adaptation measures that would enable it to minimise the impacts of adverse effects of climate change
- Weak and inadequate infrastructure (weak buildings, seasonal roads)
- Inadequate supply of clean water and sanitation facilities, which tends to have a stronger negative impact on women than on men
- Inadequate availability of health and medical services

•

2.3 Costs Benefit Analysis of addressing Climate Change through Policy

Uganda cannot afford to choose between addressing climate change and promoting development; the two are interlinked and will become increasingly so over the foreseeable future. As Uganda achieves its development goals and objectives, there will be gains and risks. A growing population and economy with urbanization will mean increase in greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. Resulting environmental and social conditions, including increased competition over resources, could intensify vulnerability to climate risks. Transitioning to a climate resilient and low carbon development pathway can address future risks, thereby improving Uganda's ability to grow under a changing climate with low GHGs emissions. In addition, building climate resilience or increasing the ability to adapt to climate change in as a low carbon way as possible will help Uganda achieve sustainable development and the Vision 2040 goals. This will also guarantees every Ugandan the right to a clean and healthy environment as provided for in the Uganda Constitution, 1995.

An integrated climate resilient and low carbon development pathway emphasizes:

- **Sustainable Development:** Achieving sustainable development should be at the forefront of all climate actions; climate change and development are intricately linked.
- Adaptation Reducing vulnerability to avoid or cushion the impacts of climate change, and enable people to respond to climate risks by moving toward a climate resilient society.
- Mitigation Taking actions, where possible, to encourage GHG emissions that are lower than business-as-usual practice; and to reduce the human causes of emissions by moving toward a resource efficient economy that is as low carbon as possible.

However, no study has been conducted to assess the economic costs of climate change, including the costs of adapting and mitigating climate change for Uganda. Consequently the analysis provided below is largely qualitative and relies on data from studies of other countries in the African region. Therefore conducting a study on the Economics of Climate Change in Uganda has great potential to provide the evidence base for a meaningful cot-benefit analysis of climate change policy but importantly also to provide evidence base the GoU and other stakeholders to allocate resources increased funds to adaptation and mitigation activities.

2.3.1 The Cost of Inaction

Climate change impacts will be economically significant, especially for African countries. In the absence of detailed data for Uganda on the economic costs of climate change and the additional costs and benefits of adaptation, assessments of Africa as a region and of other African countries facing similar challenges are useful sources of information. The Adapt Cost study funded by UNEP indicates that the economic costs of climate change in Africa could equal an annual loss in GDP of 1.5%—3% by 2030 under a business-as-usual scenario (Panafrican Climate Justice Alliance — PACJA, 2009). In the longer term (after 2050), these costs could rise rapidly. As an indication, the PAGE model run as part of the Adapt Cost study and used in the Stern review indicates that these costs could rise to almost 10% of GDP lost by 2100 (PACJA, 2009). The table below shows the estimated annual costs of climate change in Africa, as an equivalent percentage of GDP.

Table 1 - Annual costs of climate change in Africa, as an equivalent percentage of GDP

Temperature increase	Year reached	Economic costs (% of GDP)
1.5°C	2040	1.7%
2°C	2060	3.4%
4.1°C	2100	10%

Source: AdaptCost, 2009

Some assessments conducted at the national level show that climate change will have high economic impacts on key economic sectors. For instance, aggregate models run in Rwanda and Kenya indicate that the additional net economic costs (on top of existing climate variability) imposed by climate change could be equivalent to a loss of almost 1% of GDP each year by 2030 in Rwanda (though this excludes the future effects of floods and other extremes), and almost 3% of GDP each year by 2030 in Kenya (SEI, 2009). In Namibia, it is estimated that expected climate impacts on the country's natural resources will cause annual losses of between 1% and 6% of GDP (IIED, 2007). In Cameroon, a 14% reduction in rainfall is predicted to cause losses of up to US\$4.65 billion, and a 7% reduction in rainfall could cause a reduction of the country's net revenue by 6.5% per hectare (Molua & Lambi, 2006). Table 2 below shows the estimated climate change economic impacts in the ecological region of Lake Victoria for three specific sectors (Hecht, Kahata & Vincent, 2011).

SectorMaximum change in value (constant thousand \$US)Crops-\$1,462,686Livestock-\$90,942Health-\$10,291,811

Table 2 - Maximum change in value due to climate change between now and 2050

The PAGE model run during the AdaptCost study estimates that adaptation could reduce the economic costs of climate change in Africa significantly, from 2% to 1% of GDP by 2040, and from 10% to 7% of GDP by 2100, under a business-as-usual scenario. The remaining economic costs are known as residual damages. The model shows high benefits compared to costs from adaptation, the analysis assuming adaptation investment of around \$4.5 billion per year (central value) in Africa from 2020 onwards (Watkiss, 2009). It is evident that investment to address climate change is worth undertaking.

In Uganda, climate change is likely to impact the country's microeconomic stability and overall socioeconomic development, as well as its ability to achieve the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs).

Poor climate conditions reduce the performance of Uganda's agricultural sector, which is the mainstay of the economy. This is likely to result in higher food prices, lower domestic revenues and an increase in the current deficit, due to lower export earnings. The likely overall impact is an increase in inflation (due to an increasing fiscal deficit), an increase in external debt and a depreciation of the Ugandan shilling.

The UN's Food and Agriculture Organization determined that the drop in the growth of the Ugandan economy from 6.6% in 2004-05 to 5.3% in 2005-06 was largely due to the variability of the weather, specifically, its impact on agriculture.

In Uganda, the key production sectors that tend to be most affected by climate and weather variability are agriculture, water, energy and transport. Agriculture growth dropped from 1.5% in 2004-05 to 0.4% in 2005-06 due to the prolonged drought conditions experienced in most parts of the country, which affected both cash- and food-crop production.

As the productivity of agriculture, forestry and fisheries decreases, people increasingly migrate to urban areas, leading to the formation of slums and their associated problems. In the 2007-08 fiscal year, climate change damages were equivalent to 4.4% of the national budget. The cost of the damage exceeded the 3.3% budget allocation for the Environment and Natural Resource Sector.

2.3.2 Benefits of addressing climate change through this policy

Uganda's NCCP will guide efforts towards the attainment of Vision 2040 and encourage peoplecentred sustainable development ensuring that climate change actions help the country move towards long-term development goals. Some of the strategies in the NCCP contribute to development, climate resilience and transitioning to a low carbon economy while other actions focus on development and climate resilience. However, since Uganda is a low emitter of GHG, low

carbon actions should be prioritiesed only if they also have climate resilience or significant sustainable development benefits.

Low carbon climate resilient development can bring benefits including:

- Enhancing sustainable development Addressing climate change brings opportunities and multiple benefits, helping to address pressures related to poverty, population growth, economic growth, urbanization and resource use. Climate Change resilience and low carbon development enhances the integration of the social, economic and environmental pillars of sustainable development.
- Improving lives of the poor and vulnerable Climate change impacts hit haddest on the poor, who are often women and children. The urban poor living in slums that are flood-prone and the rural poor who rely on rainfed susbsistence agriculture are particularly vulnerable. Efforts to increase climate change resilience can enhance people-centred development in Uganda.
- Building adaptive capacity Uganda's vulnerability to climate change is undermined by the
 inadequate adaptive capacity of its people and institutions, or their inability to take
 advantage of opportunities or to cope with the effects of climate disasters. Improving
 development outcomes such as income, literacy, social networks and access to information
 and services is critical to building our country's adaptive capacity.
- Disaster Risk Reduction: Most of natural disasters that occuer in Uganda are related to
 extreme weather events. Therefore, the use of climate risk information and early warning
 systems in economic activities (such as farming), public infrastructure investment and
 government planning decisions can enhance decision-making capacity, and reduce and
 prevent climate-related disasters and risks.
- Contributing towards the implementation of the Constitution of Uganda, 1995. The regght of every person to clean and healthy environment is a fundamental under the Cosntitution. This right cannot be fully provided for unless action is taken to address environmental pollution, which can be supported through climate resilience and carbon development.
- Attracting international climate finance, technology and capacity building The policy directions and evidence base provided through this NCCP can help development partners ensure that their investments align with GoU climate change priorities and that these investments are nested within Vision 2040 and Uganda's national planning process. Potential sources of international support include bilateral and multilateral funders, the Green Climate Fund, the Adaptation Fund, carbon markets, and the emerging Nationally Appropriate Mitigation Actions (NAMAs) and REDD+ mechanisms.
- Leveraging investment The NCCP and implementation strategy can encourage investment in climate resilient and low carbon development technologies and industries, such as agriculture, water resource management, renewable energy, and agroforestry. Policy and institutional reforms supported through climate finance can stimulate investment in targeted actions that support climate resilient and low carbon development pathway.
- **Demonstrating regional and global leadership** The implementation of climate change and low carbon development demonstrates Uganda's as one of the leading countries in the global fight against climate change. Efforts to mainstream climate change across national and local government planning through the Vision 20140 and the national planning process provides an example for other countries.

2.4 The Rationale for the National Climate Change Policy

In light of the challenges reviewed above, the cost of inaction, the benefits of addressing climate change and the commitments of Uganda at both the global and regional level, a policy response to

limate change in Uganda is crucial for reducing the country's vulnerability to climate change, and it

climate change in Uganda is crucial for reducing the country's vulnerability to climate change, and it is the most appropriate way to adjust to and cope with the projected impacts of climate change on the nation.

The policy response to adaptation will help Uganda to address the challenges brought about by extreme weather events such increased warming, droughts, unpredictable rainfall patterns, floods and storms, thereby increasing the resilience of the population, economy and economic sectors (agriculture, fisheries, water, energy, tourism, infrastructure, settlements, etc.), while also exploring the opportunities available; for example, climate change could actually have positive effects in some regions, where small amounts of warming could benefit agriculture and livestock production.

It is also crucial that Uganda address the causes of climate change. Although national emissions of greenhouse gases are currently low compared to those of industrialised countries, Uganda is in the process of developing, and greenhouse gas emissions will increase along with industrialisation. This policy, which provides guidance for a low-carbon development path, is therefore meant to target the key sectors with potential for mitigation in Uganda.

There have already been actions on climate change undertaken in Uganda with support from both national and international partners, but these have tended to be scattered and uncoordinated. In addition, an appropriate institutional framework to ensure effective coordination has been missing and has prevented Uganda from fully exploring potential opportunities for climate-friendly and green growth created by the international and regional interest around this issue.

In light of the challenges currently facing the country, public and private financing for climate action will need to be mobilised and scaled up significantly in Uganda. With the help of an overarching national climate change policy framework, various mechanisms can now be tapped to do just that. The Cancún Agreements call on developed countries to provide new and additional resources for climate actions, and Uganda is ready to mobilise resources that will assist in efforts to find lasting solutions for financing climate change action, building on the long-standing work of the UNFCCC, GEF, World Bank and others to share experiences, identify lessons learned and provide policy recommendations for good practice.

2.5 The Scope of the Policy

Since climate change is fundamentally multi-sectoral in nature (in terms of both its causes and impacts), a policy designed to effectively tackle this challenge in Uganda must also be multi-sectoral. The policy provides direction for the key sectors that will be affected by the impacts of climate change, to facilitate adaptation and strengthen coordinated efforts amongst sectors towards building an overarching national development process that is more resilient.

With respect to mitigation potential, the most important sectors—those with relatively high potential for greenhouse gas mitigation—include land use, land-use change and forestry (LULUCF); wetlands, energy; transport, agriculture, waste management and industrial processes. New discoveries in the oil sector in recent years will, however, shift this outlook (especially as oil drilling and refining begins by the end of the decade), and other changes may occur after decommissioning. Uganda is moving towards reducing pollution and greenhouse gases, but the country will need new technologies to achieve sustainable development and transition to a low-carbon economy that may include various market-based mechanisms to reflect the full cost of consumption and production patterns from a climate perspective. These efforts will provide some vital strategic solutions, but will not be sufficient to mitigate the negative effects of climate change.

This policy is meant to be a "living" document; it will require revisions in the medium term as Uganda's development path evolves and our knowledge of climate change and its impacts on the country increases. Therefore, the policy focuses on policy directions that can be acted upon now to guide a series of actions within the next 5 to 15 years, with the ultimate goal of addressing the long-term challenges brought about by climate change and setting Uganda on a sustainable development path that takes climate change into account.

The policy is also meant to provide a framework for ensuring coordinated action, with adequate attention paid to capacity requirements and the development of the financial mechanisms and tools required to respond to the climate change challenge along these policy directions at the national level.

To conclude, this policy guided the development of a national costed implementation strategy, presented in Annex to the policy and which provides detailed guidance for actions by sector and potential tools to be used to finance the various actions proposed.

3 Policy framework

3.1 The Goal

The goal of the policy is to ensure a harmonised and coordinated approach towards a climate-resilient and low-carbon development path for sustainable development in Uganda.

3.2 The Main Objective

The overarching objective of the policy is to ensure that all stakeholders address climate change impacts and their causes through appropriate measures, while promoting sustainable development and a green economy.

3.3 Specific Objectives

In order to achieve the policy's overarching objective, the policy builds on a number of more specific objectives:

- 1. To identify and promote common policy priorities to address climate change in Uganda
- 2. To identify and promote adaptation policy responses for Uganda
- 3. To identify and promote mitigation policy responses for Uganda
- 4. To identify and promote monitoring, detection, attribution and prediction policy responses for Uganda
- 5. To support the integration of climate change issues into planning, decision making and investments in all sectors and trans-sectoral themes through appropriate institutional arrangements and legal framework
- 6. To facilitate the mobilisation of financial resources to address climate change in Uganda

3.4 The Guiding Policy Principles

A number of key principles have guided the development of this policy. They are briefly discussed below.

3.4.1 Mainstreaming and Coordinated Response to Climate Change

This policy is not meant to replace sectoral policies, but rather to provide a framework for the harmonisation and coordination of the various sectoral efforts already underway and to be put forth in the future. At the core of this policy is the recognition that climate change is a fundamentally multisectoral issue, and that all sectors and categories of stakeholders must therefore be actively involved for the implementation of the policy to be a success. This especially calls for the mainstreaming of climate change concerns in the relevant sectoral, national and local policies, plans and budgets.

3.4.2 Communicating Effectively and Promoting Participatory Approaches

The assessments and broad based consultations that led to the development of this policy have highlighted just how crucial it is to ensure adequate communication and participation as an integral part of the path of change on which this policy will lead the country, including the participation of women and other vulnerable groups. Also critical to the implementation of this policy is the need for changes in attitudes, behaviours and perceptions. Given the diversity of the actors involved in the implementation of this policy, a variety of resources and methods of communication will be needed to support participation and this change in behaviour both inside and outside the government, at both the national and local levels. The policy has been designed with this need firmly in mind.

3.4.3 Promoting Community-Based Approaches to Adaptation

The impacts of climate change will be felt heavily by local communities, especially in view of their significant vulnerability to these impacts. Local communities therefore have a crucial role to play in future efforts to adapt to climate change. Central to this policy and its implementation is the recognition of this key role and the need to promote community-based and bottom-up approaches to adaptation.

3.4.4 Devoting Adequate Attention to Capacity Development and Institutional Set-Ups

The background studies conducted as part of the policy development process have revealed the need to ensure that the policy fully takes into account the limited current capacity of Uganda in dealing with climate change, and addresses these capacity needs as part of the directions provided.

3.4.5 Devoting Adequate Attention to Technology Needs, Development and Transfer

Technology development and transfer are crucial components for addressing climate change adaptation and mitigation challenges in various sectors. Uganda, like most of the least-developed countries, is characterised by a low level of technology development. However, there are various technologies available in the developed and some developing countries that can be transferred to Uganda to maximise adaptation and mitigation potential.

3.4.6 Identifying, Developing and Influencing Financing Mechanisms

A review of cost estimates and financial mechanisms (both existing and prospective) for the implementation of this policy makes it clear that the financing of the implementation will have to draw on a number of different sources and tools. Not only will the support of international development partners be sought, but adequate attention will have to be paid to innovative market-based mechanisms in the implementation strategy to follow. This will be needed to build incentives for climate-friendly approaches to development and technology transfer in various sectors, and to ensure that climate change concerns are mainstreamed into national-, sectoral- and district-level budgets and investment screening processes, in order to leverage both public and private sources of financing.

3.4.7 Providing a Credible Delivery Structure

It is clear that the policy requires an appropriate framework to ensure its proper implementation from two perspectives: 1) In terms of the institutional structure, to ensure coordination on climate change issues; and 2) In terms of the financial delivery mechanisms, to ensure support for policy implementation. Both of these issues are considered within the policy, and are further elaborated upon in the implementation strategy presented in Annex.

3.4.8 Addressing Cross-Cutting Issues

Adequate attention must be given to issues such as HIV/AIDS and gender. Notably, the background studies for this policy revealed that the genders are affected differently by climate change. Vulnerable groups are also particularly at risk from climate change impacts and must be given due attention in the policy and its implementation.

It should be noted that the policy underwent a strategic environmental assessment in order to ensure that the policy responses and strategic options provided are consistent with national requirements and proactively support sound environmental management.

4 Policy Directions

The *Uganda National Climate Change Policy* is based on the following priority concerns: adaptation; mitigation; and research and observation (including monitoring, detection, attribution and prediction). In line with the EAC regional policy, this national policy emphasises climate change adaptation as the top priority for Uganda, while mitigation efforts are embraced by the policy as secondary, given Uganda's stage in the development process and its current low levels of emissions. Some common policy priorities for both adaptation and mitigation concerns are mentioned below, followed by policy priorities specific to each concern. Some sectors, such as agriculture and forestry, are covered under both the adaptation and mitigation sub-sections, as relevant.

4.1 Common Policy Priorities

Policy-Specific Objective 1:

To identify and promote common policy priorities to address climate change in Uganda

Given the multifaceted nature of a number of the climate change challenges facing Uganda, some of the policy priorities to mainstream climate change concerns in Uganda's development efforts cut across multiple sectors and address both adaptation and mitigation challenges. These must be given due consideration in order to ensure a coordinated response to climate change at the national level. In particular, the Government of Uganda (GoU) must:

- 1. Promote and support climate change education, awareness raising and capacity development for a range of stakeholders (government, academics, civil society and private sector) contributing to the national development process, from the local level to the national level. The aim of such efforts should be twofold: i) to ensure that each category of stakeholder better understands the climate change impacts facing Uganda, their causes, and the responses and means available. Support should be tailored to each target group based on their role in the development process, ranging from basic awareness raising training to advanced training on specific tools and technologies for the promotion of a more climate-resilient and climate-friendly development process; and ii) to mainstream climate change concerns in education curriculum at all levels and provide mechanisms to ensure the development in the medium term of appropriately skilled professionals to address specific technical challenges associated with climate change
- 2. Provide adequate support for policies and programmes that take into account the interactions between population dynamics, climate change and development. Uganda's population trends are likely to expose more people to climate change impacts, because areas of high population growth and density and high vulnerability to climate change impacts overlap. In addition, high population growth trends are critical to future scenarios of GHG emissions. Efforts to address demographic trends and climate change will focus on: 1) promoting and strengthening family planning and reproductive health as a cost-effective way of influencing future population growth by avoiding unintended pregnancies, rooted in the exercise of the right to reproductive health and the full scope of gender equality; 2) concerted action to improve women's status, as well as maternal and child health, while protecting the right of women to make their own decisions about childbearing; 3) promoting awareness and recognising that no human being has more right than any other to alter the global commons of the atmosphere; and 4) promoting access to education beyond the primary level in order to provide a foundation for greater resilience to the negative impacts of climate change
- 3. Provide proper support for the information sharing and research that is required to better understand the impacts of climate change in Uganda and the vulnerabilities of particular groups and populations, so as to better inform future actions for adaptation to climate change

4. Promote research and development, transfer and diffusion of technology through the use of appropriate information sharing, incentive schemes and support mechanisms, as relevant to the various sectors concerned. Technology development and transfer are crucial components in addressing climate change adaptation and mitigation challenges in different sectors. Uganda, like most of the least-developed countries, is characterised by a low level of technology development. However, there are various technologies available in developed and developing countries that can be transferred to Uganda to maximise the country's adaptation and mitigation potential. Uganda also needs to pursue its own efforts to develop appropriate technologies to address climate change

5. Mainstream gender issues in climate change adaptation and mitigation approaches in order to reduce the vulnerability of women and children to the impacts of climate change and recognise their key role in tackling this issue. Uganda's vulnerability and adaptation assessments indicate that the poor (in both urban and rural areas), most being women and children, are most vulnerable to climate change impacts. The greater vulnerability of women is mostly due to gender inequality. Children and infants are still prone to curable diseases and thus are more vulnerable to illness and death. Women have had limited access to and control over resources, especially land. Yet they play a crucial role in their management and will be impacted by strategies for GHG emission reductions, especially when it comes to agriculture and fuel wood use, for instance. The GoU must thus ensure that communities are empowered and that both men and women participate meaningfully in planning, testing and rolling out adaptation and mitigation activities in rural and urban areas. Further work is needed to build on efforts already underway to include gender and climate change in education curriculum and training programmes. Climate change response policies and activities must be gender sensitive, and the capacity of relevant stakeholders at national and local levels to promote gender-sensitive approaches to climate change adaptation must be strengthened

4.2 Adaptation

Policy-Specific Objective 2:

To identify and promote adaptation policy responses for Uganda

Adaptation to climate change in Uganda requires a series of coordinated policy responses that are either sector specific or cross-cutting in nature. The key sector-specific and cross-cutting priorities are discussed below.

4.2.1 Sector-Specific Priorities

The GoU should act upon a number of sector-specific priorities to increase the resilience of the country's development path to the impacts of climate change. The key challenges faced by the most vulnerable sectors and the priorities for ensuring that climate change adaptation concerns are mainstreamed in the development of these sectors are provided below.

Agriculture and Livestock

Sectoral Context and Challenges:

- Uganda depends largely on rain-fed agriculture, making rural livelihoods and food security highly vulnerable to the consequences of climate change and variability
- Climate change in Uganda is expected to severely influence the variability of rainfall and to cause increases in temperature and the potential for evapotranspiration
- Predicted increases in aridity, and hence droughts, will in turn influence agricultural production

security

These impacts will negatively affect food availability and supply, therefore impacting food

- There are currently a number of initiatives to mainstream climate change agricultural policy and practices, including sustainable land management
- Uganda is developing a National Agricultural Policy (NAP), whose major focus is on food security, increased household incomes, improved value chains, increased domestic and international trade, and improved sustainable natural resource management. The food and nutrition policy is intended to ensure that the entire food chain, from production to consumption, is efficiently managed within the overall development strategy, through building capacities at all levels for adequate action to improve household food security. Uganda's agricultural policy is also shaped by the Ministry of Agriculture, Animal Industry and Fisheries' (MAAIF's) Development Strategy and Investment Plan (DSIP) 2010/11–2014/15, whose major goal is agriculture for food and income security. The DSIP renews recognition of the fundamental importance of agriculture to the Ugandan economy and of the central role it has to play in development, economic growth and poverty reduction. The bulk of activities to adapt to climate change in the agricultural sector centres on capacity building

Policy Response:

To address these challenges, the GoU will pursue the following policy priorities, building on efforts underway in the Ministry of Agriculture, Animal Industry and Fisheries:

- To promote climate change adaptation strategies that enhance resilient, productive and sustainable agricultural systems
- To promote value addition and improve food storage and management systems in order to ensure food security at all times, as a factor of resilience

Specific strategies for tackling these sectoral policy priorities will include the following:

- Promote and encourage highly adaptive and productive crop varieties and cultivars in drought-prone, flood-prone and rain-fed crop farming systems
- Promote and encourage highly adaptive and productive livestock breeds.
- Promote and encourage conservation agriculture and ecologically compatible cropping systems to increase resilience to the impacts climate change.
- Promote sustainable management of rangelands and pastures through integrated rangeland management to avoid land degradation and deforestation
- Promote irrigated agriculture by encouraging irrigation systems that use water sustainably
- Promote and encourage agricultural diversification, and improved post-harvest handling, storage and value addition in order to mitigate rising climate related losses and to improve food security and household incomes.
- Support community-based adaptation strategies through stretched extension services and improved systems for conveying timely climate information to rural populations to enhance the resilience of agricultural systems to the impacts of climate change
- Develop innovative insurance schemes (low-premium micro-insurance policies) and lowinterest credit facilities to insure farmers against crop failure due to droughts, pests, floods and other weather-related events

Water

Sectoral Context and Challenges:

• Water is essential for all forms of life. The availability of safe water is one of many factors that determine the amount of life that can exist in a given setting

- Water is used for agriculture, households, livestock, fishing, energy, mining, manufacturing and a range of services
- Climate change is already affecting water availability, quality and security across Uganda for both production and domestic use. The predicted rise in temperature and increased variability of rainfall due to climate change will adversely affect water resources and waterdependent sectors such as agriculture, livestock and energy
- The combined effect of climate change, population growth and environmental degradation will lead to competing demands for water. Water stress challenges are already being felt in most parts of the country, especially in the cattle corridor, which receives less rain naturally
- Uganda's 1999 National Water Policy provides guidance on the orderly development and use
 of water resources to minimise harmful effects to the environment and establishes
 responses to emergencies such as droughts and floods. The Directorate of Water Resources
 Management and Directorate of Water Development under the MWE appear to be taking a
 lead in climate change vulnerability assessment and adaptation. A Climate Change
 Vulnerability Assessment, an Adaptation Strategy and an Action Plan for the Water
 Resources Sector in Uganda are already in place. A framework for Integrated CatchmentBased Water Resources Management is also being developed

Policy Response:

To address these challenges, the GoU will pursue the following policy priority:

 To support on-going efforts to ensure that climate change concerns are integrated into national efforts for sustainable and long-term conservation, access and effective utilisation and management of water resources

Specific strategies for tackling this sectoral policy priority will include the following:

- Promote and encourage water harvesting and efficient water utilisation among individuals, households, institutions and sectors
- Ensure availability of water for production in water dependant sectors in order to increase their resilience to climate change impacts
- Promote and strengthen the conservation and protection against degradation of watersheds, water catchment areas, river banks and water bodies
- Promote Integrated Water Resources Management (including underground water resources), including contingency planning for extreme events such as floods and drought
- Ensure that all guidelines for infrastructure/hydraulic works (i.e., water for production, piped water supply schemes and conditional grants guidelines for support to point sources protection) mainstream climate change
- Improve and strengthen trans-boundary cooperation regarding water resources management
- Support institutional and human capacity building in water resource use, development and management
- Strengthen water resource monitoring networks and flood warning systems

Fisheries and Aquaculture

Sectoral Context and Challenges:

Uganda's lakes and rivers are a repository of aquatic resources, which support fisheries

- Aquatic ecosystems are threatened by resource overexploitation, transformation and degradation of habitat, pollution, and now, climate change
- Fish catches and fish stocks are declining, mainly due to over-fishing
- With climate change, reduction in water levels will lead to decline in fish stocks and other
 aquatic resources. To reverse the decline of the fishing industry, interventions are urgently
 required to stop illegal activities and to exploit existing opportunities
- Uganda's 2004 National Fisheries Policy recognises the need to develop fisheries in a socially
 and environmentally sustainable manner and emphasises the protection of aquatic
 ecosystems to meet the needs of current and future generations. The policy provides
 guidance on the development of flexible systems of managing, utilising and conserving the
 country's fisheries
- Under the MAAIF's DSIP, the government focuses on strengthening controls of illegal fishing, promoting and supporting aquaculture and cage farming—especially of tilapia (currently at negligible levels but with clear potential for export to neighbouring countries), and stocking small water bodies, including dams. Emphasis will also be placed on ensuring fish quality at all levels. These focuses need to be further strengthened by the climate change policy

Policy Response:

To address the challenges, the GoU will pursue the following policy priority:

 To strengthen efforts to promote integrated fisheries resource management and improve aquaculture in order to ensure sustainable fisheries production

Specific strategies for tackling this sectoral policy priority will include the following:

- Promote and encourage climate change resilient fishing practices.
- Promote sustainable fish farming as a means of economic diversification and enhancing the resilience of the fishing sector to the impacts of climate change.
- Promote and encourage collaborative and participatory management of aquatic ecosystems
- Promote awareness of the climate change—related impacts on fisheries amongst the various stakeholders, such as local communities, resource managers and policy makers
- Provide economic incentives to diversify livelihood options in order to reduce dependence on climate-sensitive fisheries resources
- Promote biological engineering and restoration of stress-tolerant organisms
- Improve and strengthen trans-boundary cooperation regarding fisheries and aquatic ecosystems

Transport and Works

Sectoral Context and Challenges:

- Uganda's transport systems and other infrastructure continue to be built without taking predicted climate change patterns into account
- Climate-related hazards and predicted impacts of climate change threaten vital transport infrastructure such as roads, bridges and rail networks
- The economic cost of the impacts of climate change on infrastructure damage, repairs and reconstructions, though difficult to estimate, is very high.
- Uganda's transport policy aims to promote cheaper, more efficient and more reliable transport services as a means of providing effective support to increased agricultural and industrial production, trade, tourism, and social and administrative services. For all transport projects, Environmental Impact Assessments (EIAs) are prepared in accordance with the

Ugandan Guidelines and the latest international standards and environmental criteria, and submitted to the National Environment Management Authority (NEMA) for approval. Although not much has been done to integrate climate change in transport policy, the Ministry of Works and Transport (MoWT) is currently developing a Climate Change Risk Management Strategy for the transport sector

Policy Response:

To address these challenges, the GoU will pursue the following policy priority:

• To develop and ensure integrated planning and management of transport and other physical infrastructure that build on insights from climate predictions

Specific strategies for tackling this sectoral policy priority will include the following:

- Integrate climate change into the existing infrastructure risk assessment guidelines and methodology
- Building on work already underway, establish and enforce climate change-resilient standards for transport and infrastructure planning and development through monitoring and reporting systems
- Encourage the integration of climate change into transport and infrastructure development strategies
- Promote and encourage water catchment protection in transport infrastructure development and maintenance
- Climate-proof existing and future infrastructure by conducting geotechnical site investigations (GSIs) to determine whether areas are appropriate or inappropriate for infrastructural development

Forestry

Sectoral Context and Challenges:

- Uganda is endowed with abundant forest resources, which contribute significantly to environmental sustainability, the economy, community livelihoods and carbon sequestration
- Uganda forestry policy (the 2001 National Forestry Policy and the 2001 National Forestry and Tree Planting Act) makes reference to climate change issues on the commercial forest plantation, forest products processing industries, collaborative forest management, farm forest conservation of forest biodiversity, watershed management, soil conservation and urban forest
- However, the country's forest cover is disappearing at an alarming rate. Major causes of deforestation include clearing for settlements and agriculture, overgrazing, wildfires, charcoal burning, over-exploitation of wood resources for commercial purposes.
- Climate change and intensified land use will exacerbate degradation and desertification, as tree mortality increases with reduced rainfall and the incidences of pest, diseases and forest fires rise
- This will increase the rate of interventions needed in this sector to ensure sustainable forest management

Policy Response:

To address these challenges, the GoU will pursue the following policy priority:

 To ensure the sustainable management of forestry resources so that they can continue to provide global services, including mitigating climate change, while supporting the sustainable development needs of communities and the country

Specific strategies for tackling this sectoral policy priority will include the following:

- Strengthen the existing national forestry policy to reduce deforestation and forest degradation.
- Promote intensified and sustained afforestation and reforestation programmes implemented by the government, institutions, households and individuals, the private sector, civil society and multilateral organisations
- Promote and encourage efficient biomass energy production and utilization technologies to reduce biomass consumption
- Encourage agro-forestry, which will enable poor rural households to meet their subsistence and energy needs
- Strengthen existing forestry research and encourage conservation and restoration of forest ecosystems critically threatened by climate change

Wetlands

Sectoral Context and Challenges:

- Uganda is endowed with wetland resources that contribute significantly to environmental sustainability, community livelihoods and carbon sequestration
- The Uganda government has put in place legislation to manage all its natural resources, including wetlands. The Wetland Policy is in line with efforts to address climate change, as it aims to establish principles by which wetland resources can be optimally used now and in the future, to end practices that reduce wetland productivity, to maintain the biological diversity of natural or semi-natural wetlands and to maintain wetland functions and values
- However, the country's wetlands are disappearing at an alarming rate. In 1964, the total area of wetlands was estimated at 32,000 km² but by 1999, it had decreased to 30,000 km², about 13% of the total area of Uganda. As of 2005, the wetland cover had been further reduced to 26,308 km², only 11% of the total land area
- Major drivers of wetland degradation include draining of wetlands for agriculture, urban and industrial expansion, over-harvesting of wetland resources (mainly for construction and handicraft), over-fishing and poor use of wetland catchments leading to siltation of wetlands and rivers
- Climate change and intensified land use will exacerbate wetland degradation, as wetlands
 will be encroached upon further for farming, and the incidence of wetland fires is likely to
 rise
- This will increase the rate of interventions needed in this sector to ensure sustainable wetland conservation and restoration

Policy Response:

To address these challenges, the GoU will pursue the following policy priority:

 To promote long-term wetland conservation and restoration of degraded wetlands so that they can continue to provide global services, including mitigating climate change, while supporting the sustainable development needs of communities and the country

Specific strategies for tackling this sectoral policy priority will include the following:

- Strengthen the existing national wetland policy to prevent wetland degradation and encroachment
- · Promote and intensify wetland protection and restoration of degraded wetlands
- Strengthen collaborative and participatory management of wetland resources
- Strengthen existing wetland research and encourage conservation and restoration of ecosystems critically threatened by climate change

Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services

Sectoral Context and Challenges:

- The GoU promotes the conservation and sustainable utilisation of the country's biodiversity, as well as the effective management of its ecosystems
- There are currently a number of initiatives in Uganda to mainstream climate change biodiversity and ecosystem management, including sustainable land management
- The government also promotes equitable sharing of the benefits arising thereof for the wellbeing of the nation
- However, with climate change and increasing human pressure, biodiversity and ecosystems are being rapidly degraded

Policy Response:

To address these challenges, the GoU will pursue the following policy priority:

• To effectively address the challenges posed by climate change impacts on biodiversity and ecosystems, so as to ensure ecosystem health and provision of ecosystem services that are crucial to sustainable and resilient development

Specific strategies for tackling this sectoral policy priority could include the following:

- Identify biodiversity hotspots where only restricted development should be allowed
- Build on efforts underway to strengthen sustainable land management in fragile ecosystems, especially rangeland ecosystems and hilly and mountainous ecosystems
- Encourage collaborative management and sustainable use of biodiversity and ecosystems
- Promote valuation and payment for ecosystem services, and streamline other ecosystem benefit-sharing schemes
- Ensure that any human activity within the vicinity of protected areas does not compromise the integrity of the ecosystem
- Strengthen the capacity for monitoring the impacts of climate change on biodiversity, ecosystems and ecosystem services

Health

Sectoral Context and Challenges:

- Uganda's health policy is geared towards improving the health and wellbeing of its citizens, as well as the achievement of MDGs, including reduction of child mortality (MDG4), improved maternal health (MDG5) and combating HIV/AIDS, malaria and other diseases (MDG6)
- Changing climate and weather patterns influence disease spread

- For example, rising temperatures are expanding the geographical distribution of disease vectors like mosquitoes to include higher altitudes, which intensifies the malaria pandemic
- Extreme weather events like floods increase the spread of cholera and diarrhoea
- HIV/AIDS-affected families are more vulnerable to climate change impacts
- Drought and dry conditions that lead to crop failure and famine have a large impact on the nutrition status of the population and increase the prevalence of respiratory tract infections

To address these challenges, the GoU will pursue the following policy priority:

• To strengthen adaptive mechanisms and enhance early-warning systems and adequate preparedness for climate change—related diseases

Specific strategies for tackling this sectoral policy priority will include the following:

- Conduct vulnerability assessments of health sector to climate change impacts,
- Put in place contingency plans to develop climate change–resilient health systems
- Assess the impacts of climate change on human health and wellbeing
- Improve the capture, management, storage and dissemination of health information
- Heighten the surveillance of disease outbreaks and provide subsequent rapid responses to control epidemics
- Strengthen public health systems by building hospitals and supplying them with medicine, equipment and well-trained personnel
- Make provisions for a safe water chain and sanitation facilities to limit outbreaks of waterborne diseases, and implement strong public awareness programmes to promote better hygiene
- Increase the health workforce's awareness of the relationship between climate change and human health
- Develop further support action plans against HIV/AIDS to enhance the climate change resilience of HIV/AIDS affected persons and communities.

Energy

Sectoral Context and Challenges:

- Uganda depends predominantly on biomass energy—mainly from firewood and charcoal
- The country also depends on hydropower for electricity
- Electricity shortages in the recent past caused an energy crisis that led to an increase in thermal electricity generation
- However, the country's energy demand is increasing
- With climate change, the situation is likely to worsen, as extreme events like frequent and prolonged droughts lead to a reduction of water levels in dams and reservoirs, thereby reducing hydropower production potential
- The melting of glaciers is also causing a reduction of water flow in rivers
- Storms and floods further affect the energy supply chain

Policy Response:

To address these challenges, the GoU will pursue the following policy priority:

 To promote sustainable energy access and utilisation as a means of sustainable development in the face of uncertainties related to climate change

Specific strategies for tackling this sectoral policy priority will include the following:

- Promote and participate in water resource regulation so as to ensure the availability of water for hydropower production
- Promote and participate in water catchment protection as part of hydroelectric power infrastructure development
- Diversify energy sources by promoting the use of alternative renewable energy sources (such as solar, biomass, mini-hydro, geothermal and wind) that are less sensitive to climate change
- Promote energy-efficient firewood cook stoves and solar and liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) cookers
- Conduct research to determine the potential impacts of climate change elements like rainstorms on the country's power supply chain

Wildlife and Tourism

Sectoral Context and Challenges:

- Tourism, which is one of Uganda's main sources of foreign exchange, is largely nature based and mainly depends on wildlife, which in turn depends on ecosystems for survival
- Among the tourist attraction are the national parks, wildlife reserves, community wildlife areas and historical sites
- The country's wildlife and biological diversity are increasingly threatened by ecosystem fragmentation, consumptive utilisation of resources and conflicts between wildlife and human activities such as agriculture and settlement
- Climate change—especially droughts, unreliable rainfall patterns and increasing temperatures—will affect the habitats of animal and bird species
- Changes in ecosystems will lead to the disappearance of some wild animal species
- Increasing temperatures are also affecting some attractions, such as the ice caps of the Rwenzori Mountains, which are in danger of disappearing
- All of these factors will negatively affect tourism and community income bases
- This is a source of great concern for the tourism industry, which needs to undertake adaptive interventions

Policy Response:

To address these challenges, the GoU will pursue the following policy priority:

 To ensure the conservation of wildlife resources and plan for improved resilience of tourism resources and infrastructure to climate change

Specific strategies for tackling this sectoral policy priority will include the following:

- Develop a national wildlife adaptation strategy that includes well-assessed climate change adaptation strategies
- Promote measures that preserve the integrity of ecosystems that provide critical wildlife habitats and host endangered species

- Develop park management practices that will enable wildlife to adapt to the changing climate
- Encourage mechanisms of improving local vulnerable populations' livelihoods using revenues generated from the tourism industry
- Develop and diversify tourism products that are less sensitive to climate change, as an adaptation and substitute for the many natural attractions that are quickly disappearing
- Develop weather-resilient infrastructure to support tourism in the region while ensuring minimal damage to wildlife habitats

Human Settlements and Social Infrastructure

Sectoral Context and Challenges:

- Climate change impacts have been observed on human settlements in Uganda as a result of floods, droughts, landslides and land conflicts
- The predicted impacts of climate change in Uganda will largely affect communities residing in poor urban neighbourhoods where housing and infrastructure are poorly planned, as well as communities in regions prone to drought, floods and geological movements (e.g., landslides)
- Uganda has put in place the 2010 Physical Planning Act and the 2007 National Land Use Policy, to guide orderly development of human settlements and land utilisation that takes into account risk and safety, local economic development and environmental protection
- However, human life, animals and property will continue to be threatened by climaterelated hazards especially floods and landslides
- Therefore, there is a need to strengthen the efforts to relocate vulnerable communities and to promote disaster preparedness and management in the country

Policy Response:

To address the challenges, the GoU will pursue the following policy priority:

 To promote the urban planning and development of human settlements that are resilient and robust enough to withstand climate change—related risks and hazards

Specific strategies for tackling this sectoral policy priority will include the following:

- Promote and encourage proper planning of urban centres in order to have climate change– resilient urban areas
- Revise and harmonise structural/building codes and standards, as well as the training on such standards, taking into account the expected changes in climate
- Improve disaster preparedness by increasing the number of well-equipped health facilities, constructing dams and dykes in flood-prone areas, and improving disaster preparedness and management knowledge and skills in regions prone to such climatic disasters
- Strengthen housing development policies, including subsidies to low-income communities
- Establish insurance schemes to provide reparations in regions affected by climatic disasters
- Develop climate change awareness programmes involving all communities and stakeholders
- Disseminate climate-change and early-warning information in local languages to improve community disaster preparedness
- Diversify economic activities to improve the resilience of rural communities dependent on climate-sensitive sectors such as agriculture and livestock rearing
- Create "green spaces" in urban centres to moderate temperatures and provide fresh air for healthy living

Disaster Risk Management

Sectoral Context and Challenges:

- With climate change, events such as droughts, floods and landslides will become more frequent and more extreme
- Uganda is committed to international risk management initiatives such as the Hyogo Framework of Action and the African Regional Strategy for Disaster Risk Reduction
- Uganda's National Disaster Preparedness and Management Policy approaches disaster management with a focus on preparedness and reduction of risk and vulnerability. However, most of the Disaster Management Committees put in place at local levels are not functional, and the country is not adequately prepared to deal with disasters
- Disaster Risk Management is a frontline defence for adapting to the impacts of climate change
- Disaster risk management is also a key aspect of addressing socio-environmental conflicts and human security concerns, both locally and regionally, in respect to environmental refugees and management of transboundary resources

Policy Response:

To address these challenges, the GoU will pursue the following policy priority:

 To ensure disaster mitigation and adequate preparedness for climate change-induced risks, hazards and disasters

Specific strategies for tackling this sectoral policy priority could include the following:

- Develop and implement a climate change-induced disaster risk management strategy
- Create an appropriate legal and regulatory framework for disaster management
- Promote vulnerability risk mapping (including the social and economic impacts of climate change) of the whole country and all sectors
- Improve early-warning systems and preparedness to avoid or minimise the adverse impacts of climate change
- Strengthen climate change—induced disaster management institutions at the national and local levels to reduce causality and ensure preparedness
- Provide basic needs to victims of climate change—induced disasters in the form of financial assistance or donations of food, goods and services as the need arises
- Encourage the formation of resident associations that can respond to emergencies, and involve them in key decision making to reduce risks.
- Strengthen the National Emergency Coordination and Operations Centre and establish a national contingency fund
- Promote the development of innovative insurance schemes to insure households, institutions and businesses against the destruction caused by extreme weather events and disasters

4.2.2 Cross-Cutting Priorities

Vulnerable Groups

Context and Challenges:

• Climate change is expected to disproportionately affect vulnerable groups

- Vulnerable groups include the poor, people living with disability, youth, people living with HIV/AIDS, the elderly, orphans and vulnerable children, refugees, and marginalised communities, due to their limited adaptive capacity
- There is a need for the government to effectively address the challenges of groups who are especially vulnerable to climate change impacts

To address these challenges, the GoU will pursue the following policy priority:

 To give special attention to the improvement of the resilience of vulnerable groups to climate change

Specific strategies for tackling this cross-cutting policy priority could include the following:

- Put in place social protection mechanisms to ensure that vulnerable groups and communities are empowered to effectively and adequately adapt to the impacts of climate change
- Support and encourage vulnerable groups to engage in sustainable adaptation mechanisms to cope with climate change impacts
- Integrate climate change—related issues into economic policies and action plans that address the needs of vulnerable groups

4.3 Mitigation

Policy-Specific Objective 3:

To identify and promote mitigation policy responses for Uganda

Like adaptation to climate change, mitigation of greenhouse gas emissions in Uganda also requires a series of coordinated policy responses that are either sector-specific or cross-cutting in nature. The key sector-specific and cross-cutting priorities are discussed below and should inform the NAMA process for Uganda.

4.3.1 Sector-Specific Priorities

LULUCF (Land Use, Land-Use Change and Forestry)

This sector covers a broad area that includes land-use change and forestry. This is the sector that has the highest local impact not only on carbon sequestration but also on local climate.

Forestry

Sectoral Context and Challenges:

- As is the case in many developing countries, Uganda's GHG emissions can potentially be more affected by land-use change and forestry than by transport and industrial emissions
- Natural growth in forests and other woody areas absorbs significant quantities of carbon dioxide (CO₂)
- In 2002, carbon sinks in Uganda are estimated to have sequestered close to 80,000 kilotonnes of CO₂ equivalents, almost entirely due to natural growth from Uganda's almost 4 million ha of forest at that time

- With the on-going loss of natural forests, the establishment of forest plantations will become increasingly important
- By 2010, new forests established in Uganda under emissions trading and other forms of foreign grants were estimated to cover about 40,000 ha, sequestering up to 1,000 kilotonnes of CO₂ equivalent
- Uganda forestry policy and the National Forestry and Tree Planting Act do make reference to climate change. However, there is currently a very high rate of deforestation in Uganda. Between 1995 and 2005, there was a loss of over 1 million hectares of natural forests (woodland and tropical high forest combined), which represents a reduction in forest cover of 2.7% per annum
- This rapid deforestation was due to the demand for wood fuel, charcoal and agricultural land

To address these challenges, the GoU will pursue the following policy priorities:

With a view to protecting and promoting carbon sinks:

- To continue and step up efforts targeted at effective forest management
- To make a deliberate departure from "business as usual" by formulating sectoral policies that address issues associated with increased unit productivity in plantation forestry
- To promote and develop afforestation and reforestation programmes in non-forested areas and intensify afforestation and reforestation efforts in other areas

Specific strategies for tackling these sectoral policy priorities could include the following:

- Ensure that the forest sector continues providing global services in mitigation of climate change while supporting sustainable development needs of the country
- Provide financial support, technology transfer and provision for capacity building, especially to forest-dependent communities
- Provide incentives for farmers to establish commercial woodlot plantations, including periurban plantations
- Implement a system for supporting research and regular data collection and monitoring the status of the forests in terms of areal extent, distribution, plantation species introductions and biodiversity

Land Use and Land-Use Change

Sectoral Context and Challenges:

- An increasing population and demand for food are affecting land use and land-use change in Uganda
- The amount of human activity carried out per unit of land (cropland or grassland) has also increased
- Consequently, there have been changes in GHG sources and sinks due to human activities
- Some of these changes are due to changes in the way that land is used, such as the clearing
 of forest for agriculture, the conversion of grassland to forest, and the conversion of forest
 to cropland
- These changes in use affect the amount of biomass in existing biomass stocks and soil carbon stocks

- Uganda has put in place the 2007 National Land Use Policy to guide the orderly development
 of human settlements and land utilisation that takes into account risk and safety, local
 economic development and environmental protection
- However, land remains under severe pressure from competing land uses by different sectors, including settlements, which is compounded by the increasing population
- There is still inadequate planning of urban and rural settlements and locations of industries and other land developments

To address these challenges, the GoU will pursue the following policy priorities:

- To promote and enforce urban and rural planning of settlements
- To control and monitor land development and other land-use changes in a sustainable manner so as to better manage GHG sources and sinks

Specific strategies for tackling these sectoral policy priorities could include the following:

- Demarcate areas reserved for industrial use and other land development
- Strengthen urban development authorities by providing funds and the ability to enforce regulations
- Promote human resource development in land management
- Strengthen law enforcement and regulate activities on land
- Ensure that new climate change strategies are closely linked to the existing strategies

Reduced Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation+ (REDD+)

Sectoral Context and Challenges:

- REDD+ is a new mechanism in forest sector development
- It addresses the weaknesses in other carbon market mechanisms
- Uganda has just completed the preparation of a Reduced Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation (REDD) Readiness proposal for donor funding
- It is already implementing several afforestation carbon projects and preparing plans to take advantage of REDD+ to benefit from the restoration of natural forests and other sustainable forest management activities
- There are new developments of carbon sinks projects
- Uganda is positioning itself to benefit from the current market mechanism
- REDD+ is a new initiative still in the pilot stage. It should provide mutual benefits to all stakeholders, but primarily to local communities, through the introduction of equitable benefit sharing mechanisms
- The information available to the stakeholders about this new initiative is inadequate
- Some have voiced concern that in some countries, the benefit goes to the investors only

Policy Response

To address these challenges, the GoU will pursue the following policy priority:

 To continue to actively promote joint REDD+ efforts involving the public and private sectors

Specific strategies for tackling this sectoral policy priority could include the following:

- Conserve the existing forests and implement REDD+ programmes to access additional funds from carbon markets
- Set-up mechanisms to regulate the implementation of REDD+ projects and the set-up of equitable benefit sharing schemes

Wetlands

Sectoral Context and Challenges:

- Wetlands emit substantial quantities of GHG, even more so when reclaimed on a large scale such as for rice growing in Eastern Uganda
- The enormous biomass (living and dead) in wetlands and their high productivity suggest an important function of wetlands in the mitigation of GHG emission
- Much interest is directed towards their role in the carbon balance, in terms of production of carbon dioxide and methane when conserved and even more significant emission of GHG when reclaimed or drained
- Saving wetlands will therefore help to reduce GHG emission overall
- There is heavy encroachment of the country's wetlands by developers
- Political interference has often hampered the enforcement of laws and regulations to protect the wetlands under the current policy framework for wetland protection
- In some cases, waste from various sources is directed into wetlands and the ecosystem is destroyed
- There is rampant illegal draining and filling of wetlands, which causes flooding and increased GHG emissions
- As the population increases, both the rich and poor are increasingly pushed to derive livelihoods from wetlands, including through reclamation for agriculture, vegetables and other industrial and commercial purposes
- These losses of wetlands are accompanied by large quantities of GHG emissions

Policy Response

To address these challenges, the GoU will pursue the following policy priority:

 To promote a balance between conservation and sustainable use of wetlands to reduce GHG emissions

Specific strategies for tackling this sectoral policy priority could include the following:

- 1. Promote and intensify wetland protection and restoration in order to enhance sinks of green house gases.
- 2. Promote sustainable use of wetlands

Agriculture

Sectoral Context and Challenges:

 Agriculture is a very important sector for national development, since it is the main source of livelihood in Uganda

- This sector is one of the most vulnerable to climate change because most of its activities rely on climate, but farmers often do not get the right information about weather
 - There is growing demand for food to feed Uganda's fast-growing population, which is currently increasing at a rate of 3.2% per annum
 - The labour force in Uganda is predominantly rural, with 82% of employees located in rural areas, of which 65.6% are employed in agriculture
 - The growing population will need food, and its absence may lead to conflict and security concerns
 - There is increasing heat stress, which affects soil moisture (mostly in arid areas), leading to low agricultural productivity in those areas
 - Water stress will affect the community and economy, which depend on fisheries and aquaculture
 - The National Agricultural Policy (NAP), promoting sustainable natural resources management, provides a step in the right direction, but further efforts are needed to ensure that mitigation practices are adequately mainstreamed in this sector, especially in cases where they can deliver co-benefits to adaptation efforts in the short to medium term, including with respect to integrated soil fertility management, integrated water management, promotion of bio-fertilisers and organic manures, zero-grazing, biochar, agroforestry, and the development of early-maturing germplasm

To address these challenges, the GoU will pursue the following policy priority:

 To mainstream climate change mitigation issues in the efforts underway to promote and improve the management of natural resources, in order to ensure resilient, productive and sustainable agricultural systems with reduced GHG emissions

Specific strategies for tackling this sectoral policy priority could include the following:

- Promote and encourage conservation agriculture and ecologically compatible cropping systems and agricultural practices to increase GHG sinks.
- Promote the sustainable management of rangelands to reduce GHG emissions from soil and land degradation
- Promote the sustainable utilisation of agricultural products

Energy Generation

Sectoral Context and Challenges:

- The energy sector is a crucial component of economic development and security in Uganda
- After the transport sector, it is the next most important in terms of greenhouse gas emissions in the country
- Uganda depends predominantly on biomass energy—mainly from firewood, charcoal and agricultural waste
- The Ministry of Energy and Mineral Development developed and published a Renewable Energy Policy (REP) for Uganda in November 2007
- The policy vision for renewable energy is to make modern renewable energy a substantial part of the national energy consumption. The overall policy goal is to increase the use of modern renewable energy from the current 4% to 61% of the total energy consumption by the year 2017

- The GoU plans to develop clean energy resources like hydropower systems, solar energy and biomass. The GoU has a very ambitious programme to achieve 100% electrification by 2025
- The most constraining barrier to development and uptake of new and renewable energy in Uganda, however, is low institutional capacity and inadequate regulatory and investment frameworks to provide the enabling environment for such development, uptake and transfer of technology on a larger scale
- In total, 89.5% of the country's energy needs are met by charcoal and firewood
- The contribution of oil products is 9.2%, mostly in the transport sector, generating a considerable amount of greenhouse gas
- The recent discovery of oil and gas in Uganda will affect the energy matrix in the country in the medium term and could greatly affect GHG emissions if the use of oil and gas is not properly managed
- The National Oil and Gas Policy for Uganda, approved in 2008, promotes the use of oil and gas for the national market, including for energy generation, but also makes provisions to limit GHG emissions increases by prohibiting the venting of gas and discouraging flaring of oil and gas
- The total capacity of renewable energy resources in Uganda is currently only about 5,300 megawatts, which will not be enough in the long term
- When energy demand exceeds production, it leads to load shedding (i.e., rolling blackouts)
- There is slow growth in the industrial and commercial sectors due to a lack of electricity
- The use of thermal generators is too expensive, and it also generates greenhouse gases
- It is very expensive to develop the necessary infrastructure for renewable energy
- The lead time for a renewable energy infrastructure can be more than 10 years

To address these challenges, the GoU will pursue the following policy priorities:

 To support and accelerate the implementation of the Renewable Energy Policy (REP), in particular with respect to the promotion and development of new clean energy technologies in order to reduce GHG

Specific strategies for tackling these sectoral policy priorities could include the following:

- Promote investment in clean energy generation under public-private partnerships
- To promote, encourage and incentivise cogeneration, which is the production by industries of heat or steam and electricity from renewable biomass
- Provide tax incentives and other benefits to private-sector companies who invest in cleaner energy generation
- Promote the use of alternative renewable energy sources such as solar, biomass, wind and biofuels, as well as their associated technologies
- Develop hydroelectric and geothermal power systems and integrate them into the East African Power Pool in the medium term
- Promote the use of combined-cycle gas turbines in cases where there is a shortfall in renewable energy power generation systems
- Regulate the oil and gas sector and use of fossil fuels to reduce GHG emissions

Energy Utilisation

Sectoral Context and Challenges:

In Uganda, most biomass energy is used in households

- About 66.2% of the country's energy and 25% of its electricity is used in the household sector
- Industrial and commercial sectors are the largest users of electricity, consuming 59.4% and 14.9%, respectively, of the total electricity generated
- Both industrial and commercial sectors are also highly dependent on biomass
- About 78% of all industrial energy comes from biomass
- Most households and most of the commercial sector use low-efficiency appliances
- Some industries still use low power factor and inefficient lighting and electric motors, which leads to high energy consumption and consequently GHG emissions
- There is limited availability of alternative fuels to replace existing fuels such as biomass and fossil fuels
- The high level of poverty limits the choice of alternative fuels

To address the mitigation challenges faced by the country in the energy sector, the GoU should pursue the following policy priorities with respect to energy utilisation:

- To promote conservation and efficient utilisation of energy to reduce GHG emissions, especially at consumer levels (industries, households, commercial and institutional buildings)
- To encourage the use of alternative fuels instead of heavily relying on biomass

Specific strategies for tackling these sectoral policy priorities could include the following:

- Promote the development of energy conservation and efficiency projects in all sectors; for example, to promote the use of stabilised bricks and efficient brick kilns in the building sector
- To enforce building codes with the aim of reducing energy consumption and encouraging designs that maximise the use of natural daylight in buildings
- Promote the use of energy-efficient technologies such as compact florescent lamps and other commercially available high-efficiency lamps
- Promote efficient firewood/charcoal stoves and solar and LPG cookers, and address the high upfront costs of acquiring these technologies through household subsidies or tax waivers
- Reduce deforestation by providing alternative clean energy sources and efficient appliances for energy use, management and conservation

Transport

Sectoral Context and Challenges:

- The transport sector is the largest contributor of GHGs, and it is the third most important sector in terms of environmental loading in Uganda
- Transport plays a major role in economic activities
- For example, the provision of effective transport supports productivity in the agricultural
 and industrial sectors, trade and tourism, and social and administrative services, ultimately
 promoting integration for overall economic growth
- The availability of an adequate transport infrastructure is also a prerequisite for poverty alleviation, attraction of private-sector investment and facilitation of regional economic integration and international trade, and this is recognised by the current sector policy framework

- The lack of an officially "approved" national transport policy is a disadvantage to the country in general and to Kampala District in particular, which accounts for over 50% of the vehicles in Uganda
- Critical issues such as urban mobility are not being given the attention they deserve, as efforts focus instead on main roads and highways
- The infrastructure in Kampala can no longer handle the traffic, resulting in traffic congestion, high fuel consumption and consequently high GHG emissions
- Mass transit in the city was reintroduced after an absence of more than 20 years. There is currently a very limited number of buses operating in urban centres
- There is heavy dependence on roads for freight and cargo transport, which leads to fast deterioration of roads
- Uganda once had 1,232 kilometres of rail network. At present, only 251 kilometres is operational, on the Kampala-Jinja-Malaba line
- Although not much has been done to integrate climate change in transport policy, the MoWT is currently developing a Climate Change Risk Management Strategy for the transport sector. Efforts must be made to ensure that GHG emission concerns are also adequately addressed by the sector

To address these challenges, the GoU should pursue the following policy priorities in the short to medium term:

- To promote the development, approval and effective implementation of a long-term national transport policy and plan that will take GHG mitigation concerns into account
- To effect a gradual shift to the use of less carbon-intensive fuels (including compressed natural gas, ethanol and LPG) in vehicles instead of relying heavily on gasoline and diesel fuels
- To promote modes of transport that take GHG emission reduction into account

Specific strategies for tackling these sectoral policy priorities could include the following:

- Improve road infrastructure, and traffic management in urban centres to reduce traffic congestion and GHG emissions
- Promote and encourage reduction of reduce greenhouse emissions from the transport sector
- Promote private-sector investment in the biofuel industry, covering the whole biofuel chain from cultivation to fuel processing
- Establish national standards for emissions and implement strict vehicular emissions standards in tandem with measures to gradually phase out old, inefficient motor vehicles, while encouraging the importation of efficient ones.

Waste Management

Sectoral Context and Challenges:

- Most waste is generated in urban areas
- World-wide, it is estimated that 60% of municipal solid waste is land filled, but in Uganda, waste is not typically land filled, but is simply left to rot
- The wastes considered in this case are municipal solid waste and human waste and sewage
- Most landfills in the towns are not well managed

- Municipal and human wastes are not treated, and generate considerable amounts of methane
- There is poor waste management at the national level
- There are new initiatives to sort wastes in towns, under the Clean Development Mechanism (CDM)
- Landfills leak and generate methane, which is not currently used to produce energy
- There is potential for generating energy using sewage plants, but such a process has not yet been put into practice

To address these challenges, the GoU will pursue the following policy priority:

• To promote sustainable use of solid and liquid wastes for energy generation and other uses, such as fertilisers (after sorting)

Specific strategies for tackling these sectoral policy priorities could include the following:

- Promote and encourage waste-to-energy programmes to reduce GHG emissions and increasing energy generation and access.
- Promote proper disposal and sustainable use of wastes, including sorting and composting wastes.
- Promote the gasification and incineration of large quantities of waste to generate thermal energy or electricity
- Promote the use of human waste for production of biogas, which can be used for cooking and lighting in institutions such as schools and hospitals, while effluent can be used as fertiliser

Industrial Sector

Sectoral Context and Challenges:

- Although the level of emissions from the industrial sector is still low, it will increase as the country develops
- The current emissions from industrial processes primarily come from cement and lime production
- In recent decades, there has been steady growth in the industrialisation of the country, and the industrial sector contributes considerably to the Ugandan economy
- In 2011, the estimated real growth rate in this sector was 7.5% per annum
- This growth is even more pronounced in the construction industry, where cement and lime are used
- There is growing demand for cement and lime for use in construction and road works
- This demand will increase the GHG emissions of the industrial sector
- Most of the traditional lime kilns, which use biomass, are poorly designed, resulting in high levels of energy consumption

Policy Response:

To address these challenges, the GoU will pursue the following policy priority:

 To promote cleaner production processes in industries to contain the increase in GHG emissions

Specific strategies for tackling this sectoral policy priority could include the following:

- Promote new technologies in cement processing industries
- Improve the efficiency of and alternative fuels for lime kilns
- Promote cleaner production in the industrial sector
- Review and enforce emission regulations in the sector

4.3.2 Cross-Cutting Priorities

Some policy priorities cut across multiple sectors and must be given due consideration in order to ensure a coordinated response to climate change mitigation challenges at the national level. This is particularly the case when it comes to barriers to technology transfer and the large-scale diffusion of clean, low-carbon technologies in Uganda.

Context and Challenges:

- On-going technology transfer efforts are being made at the national level, but they are not documented
- There is no coordinated effort to streamline the process of technology transfer
- The cost of technology transfer can be very high, depending on the type and form of transfer
- Across sectors, there is a lack of awareness about technologies, a lack of capacity to handle new technologies, slow penetration of the technologies transferred, and a lack of capital available, especially to small firms
- The sectors have inadequate access to skilled personnel and there is a lack of enabling policy initiatives, institutional mechanisms, information and opportunities, as well as a lack of local human capital and capacity for adoption of technology

Policy Response:

To address these challenges, the GoU will pursue the following policy priorities:

- To put in place functioning institutions that can manage and coordinate issues related to the transfer, deployment and diffusion of technology, including the promotion of the capacity development necessary to support the implementation of clean and low-carbon technologies
- To encourage technological development to address the problem of climate change in sectors of economic development with high emissions

Specific strategies for tackling these cross-cutting policy priorities could include the following:

- To ensure adequate capacity development for technology transfer
- To create a technology fund (with assistance from development partners and other financial institutions) that can facilitate the transfer, deployment and diffusion of technology and promote the capacity building necessary to support the implementation of clean and lowcarbon technologies in other sectors, such as LULUCF and agriculture

- Introduce improved seeds and draught-resistant, fast-growing tree species as part of the process of technology transfer in the forestry sector
- Provide financial support for capacity building, especially in forest-dependent communities
- Provide support for R&D and accurate data for timely weather monitoring and dissemination of information
- Enforce monitoring of the carbon footprint

4.4 Monitoring, Detection, Attribution and Prediction

Policy-Specific Objective 4:

To identify and promote monitoring, detection, attribution and prediction policy responses for Uganda

One key to better understanding and predicting climate change is access to adequate data and the capacity to analyse and interpret these data at the national level. In Uganda, such information is also critical for providing early-warning information about climate-related disasters (such as drought and floods).

The Uganda Department of Meteorology, which is also the IPCC focal institution in the country, is responsible for climate change monitoring and detection in Uganda. The country has a network of climate change monitoring stations equipped with various types of instruments. The table below shows the existing and required stations and observation networks in Uganda.

Table 3: Network of Climate Monitoring Stations in Uganda

No.	Station Type	Operational Stations	Optimum No. of Stations	Deficit (%)
1	Synoptic stations	12	16	25
2	Climatological stations (hydrological and agrometeorological stations)	40	60	33
3	Rainfall stations	150	1000	85
4	Upper air stations	1	2	50
5	Radar stations	1	2	50
6	MSG receivers	1	2	50

Source: Department of Meteorology, MWE, 2011

As shown in the table above, there is a significant shortage of climate monitoring stations and networks in Uganda, and this negatively affects the country's ability to monitor, detect and predict climate variability and climate change. In addition, the human resources and instrumentation and other modern equipment required, not only for data collection, but also for data analysis, are either unavailable or insufficient. There are also problems with weather-related data gaps.

Additional manpower is needed to address these gaps in data collection, measurement and analysis, along with additional training and associated costs. Rain is an extremely important resource for the national socioeconomic development of Uganda, since most of the country's agriculture is rain fed.

A number of development partners have provided support to help the Department of Meteorology start to address some of the capacity gaps identified, but more work is still required.

Sectoral Context and Challenges:

- There is a need for human resources to address issues related to the collection of meteorological and hydrological data, as well as data analysis, storage and management
- The management of climatological, hydrological and other data relevant to climate change is inadequate
- Data are still stored in binary code formats, but should be transferred to table-driven code formats for recording weather parameters, as per the recommendation of the World Meteorological Organization

Policy Response:

To address these challenges, the GoU will pursue the following policy priority:

To continue its on-going efforts to strengthen the capacity of the Department of
 Meteorology in its functions in climate change monitoring and detection in Uganda

Specific strategies for tackling this policy priority could include the following:

- Support capacity development for accurate weather data collection, analysis and weather monitoring.
- Support timely sharing and dissemination of relevant data and information with potential users at both the national and district levels
- Provide support for the development of reliable climate modelling and prediction and climate early-warning systems.
- Support Research and Development in climate monitoring, detection, attribution and prediction.

5 Implementation Arrangements – From Policy to Action

The NCCP has identified six Policy Priority Areas (stated in the specific objectives) for addressing Uganda's climate change challenges and opportunities. Each of these policies has a number of specific strategic interventions for addressing the critical policy actions necessary to achieve the desired objectives. These policy objectives will be achieved through the specific strategies and actions as indicated in the Implementation Strategy (Part II of the Policy). Specific actions and outputs as well as estimated timelines and costs have been identified for each policy objective as part of the Implementation Strategy.

Given the highly multi-sectoral nature of this policy, which focuses on the mainstreaming of a cross-cutting issue, the institutional and resource mobilisation set-up to support its implementation must inherently involve multiple structures and mechanisms.

There are a number of existing national institutions and private organizations in Uganda whose mandates and activities border on climate and climate change issues. This section, discusses these institutions, their roles and responsibilities, the legal and regulatory framework governing climate change issues and the resource mobilization set up.

5.1 Institutional Arrangements and Legal Framework

Policy-Specific Objective 5:

To support the integration of climate change issues into planning, decision making and investments in all sectors and trans-sectoral themes through appropriate institutional arrangements and legal framework

5.1.1 The Focal Climate Change Institution

In determining an appropriate climate change focal institution and climate change governance, there ought to be careful consideration of:

- the GoU's obligations towards meeting GHG emissions reductions as well as adaptation and other mitigation measures Article 4 and 12 of UNFCCC and Kyoto Protocol,
- what the relevant national laws (including the National environment Act, 1995) provide for;
- institutions that already conducting climate change activities and what they do, and;
- The plausible effective options.

It is important that the strategies and actions needed to combat climate change (provided in the NCCP implementation strategy) be anchored within this policy and the legal and regulatory framework (as described in Section 5.2) that enables Uganda to meet its long-term development goals (Vision 20140) while fulfilling its global obligations towards combating climate change. To that end a dedicated climate change institution is important as it establishes a coordination instrument which ensures that all cross-sectoral activities match the overall vision of the NCCP — a climate-resilient and low-carbon development path for sustainable development in Uganda.

In view of this is proposed that:

1. A National Climate Change Commission (NCCC) be established and adequately resources in the Ministry of Water and Environment to act a national coordination centre for climate change in Uganda. This is because a climate change coordinating body must possess the authority to conduct business with the various cross-sectoral Ministries Departments and Agencies involved in the implementation of the policy. To that end , the current Climate Change Unit (CCU) should be elevated to the level of a National Commission. The main functions of the new National Climate Change Commission (NCCC) will revolve around:

- Acting as an information clearinghouse on climate change concerns;
- Providing policy and strategic advice on climate change;
- Supporting awareness raising, communication and outreach on climate change;
- Ensuring the integration of climate change concerns into overall national planning through coordination with the relevant ministries, departments and governmental agencies;
- Providing secretarial services to the Policy Committee on Environment (PCE) as regards to climate change mattes only(this is because the Secretariat of the PCE is NEMA), the National Climate Change Advisory Committee and the CDM-Designated National Authority;
- Monitoring the implementation of the Climate Change Policy and its Implementation Strategy;
- Serving as the National Focal Point for the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC);
- 2. The Policy Committee on Environment (PCE), as provided for in the National Environment Act, 1995 be strengthened to guide and advice on climate policy implementation. It will also ensure information flow on resource allocation for the implementation of the policy. The Committee which is chaired by the Prime Minister will bring together Ministers from the various departments at the national level. To that end, the National Environment Act will be reviewed to cater for this role.
- 3. A National Climate Change Advisory Committee will be put in place to ensure working level coordination and to provide climate change technical input to the Policy Committee on Environment. This committee will be chaired by the Minister for Water and Environment and will bring together technical representatives from the various government departments at the national level, along with representatives from private-sector associations, civil society, academia and district authorities.

5.1.2 Other Key Coordinating Ministries and Authorities

In addition to the NCCC, three national ministries or authorities will have a specific role to play in national coordination to ensure policy implementation.

The Ministry of Finance, Planning and Economic Development (MoFPED)

The main functions of the MoFPED will be to:

- Ensure that national, sectoral and district-level budgets and indicative planning figures integrate climate change through appropriate provisions for the implementation of the policy and its strategy
- Review quarterly and semi-annual reports from the ministries, departments and agencies concerned, to ensure that resource use is in line with expected and actual progress in implementing the policy

• Facilitate the introduction of relevant financial mechanisms and tools to the relevant stakeholders, as per the implementation strategy, to support financial resource mobilisation and investment for the implementation of the policy

The National Planning Authority

The main functions of the National Planning Authority (NPA) will be to:

- Ensure that the ministries, departments and agencies concerned integrate climate change through adequate provisions in their annual work plans for the implementation of the climate change policy, building on the guidance provided in the costed implementation strategy but consistent with all relevant national policies and legislations
- Ensure that these agreed work plans are implemented, through a review of quarterly and semi-annual reporting by the institutions concerned and appropriate follow-up actions by the NPA

The Ministry of Local Government

The main functions of the Ministry of Local Government (MoLG) will be to:

- Provide guidance to the districts to translate the policy priorities and the implementation strategy into coherent plans at the district level
- Ensure that districts make adequate provisions in their development plans, annual plans and budgets for the implementation of the climate change policy
- Ensure that these are acted upon as planned through a review of relevant reports from the districts and appropriate follow-up actions by the MoLG, as required

5.1.3 Ministries, Departments and Agencies

Each of the various ministries, departments and agencies with a role to play in the implementation of the policy responses outlined in this document will designate a departmental focal point and will be accountable for the implementation of the prescribed policy responses that concern their department. Given the far reaching nature of this policy, the ministries, departments and agencies concerned by this policy are numerous.

For purposes of this policy, and in addition to the coordinating ministries and agencies, the following Ministries and their Departments and agencies are identified as have a critical role in implementation of the policy:

- 1. Ministry of Water and Environment (MWE.
- 2. Ministry Ministry of Agriculture, Animal Industry and Fisheries (MAAIF)
- 3. Ministry of Works and Transport (MoWT)
- 4. Ministry of Energy and Mineral Development (MEMD)
- 5. Ministry of Health (MoH)
- 6. Ministry of Lands, Housing and Urban Development (MoLHUD)
- 7. Ministry of Tourism, Wildlife and Antiquities (MoTWA)
- 8. Ministry of Gender, Labour and Social Development (MoGLSD)
- 9. Ministry of Trade, Industry and Cooperatives (MoTIC)
- 10. Ministry of Education and Sports (MoES)
- 11. Ministry of Local Government (MoLG)
- 12. Office of the Prime Minister (OPM)
- 13. National Planning Authority (NPA)
- 14. Kampala Capital City Authority (KCCA)

The Implementation Strategy details the accountabilities of the various ministries, departments and agencies concerned with the indicative climate change programmes presented in the Strategy. They will be expected to report on a quarterly and semi-annual basis on their progress in the implementation of their respective tasks and in the attainment of their expected results and performance targets, based on the Monitoring and Evaluation (M&E) Framework also presented under the Implementation Strategy for the policy. This information will be reported to the Ministry of Finance, and copied to the National Planning Authority and the NCCC. On the basis of these reports, the NCCC will be tasked with preparing a consolidated annual progress report on the overall implementation of the policy, for consideration by the Cabinet and the Prime Minister's Office.

5.1.4 At the Decentralised Level – Local Governments

A similar management arrangement will be mirrored at the district level. While the climate change focal point will be anchored within the Natural Resources Department of the District Local Government, all departments will ensure that climate change issues in their sectors are integrated into the District Development Plans. Adequate provision will be made in district-level Indicative Planning Figures for each sector to ensure they can address the climate change policy priorities, along with the setting of relevant performance indicators. The existing Environment Committee structure at the district level will act as a mechanism to ensure cross-sectoral coordination.

An organisational chart presenting the main elements of the institutional framework is provided in Annex B.

5.1.5 Collaboration and Coordination

Collaboration and coordination at the national level will be essential for the effective and efficient implementation of the policy. In addition to the NCCC's facilitation function, this coordination will require multi-stakeholder mechanisms. Two such mechanisms will be established.

As indicated in detail in section 5.2 on legal framework, the Policy Committee on environment will coordinate policy implementation and ensure information flow on resource allocation for the implementation of the policy. The National Climate Change Advisory Committee will ensure working level coordination and provide technical input to the National Climate Change Policy Committee.

The work of these two coordination mechanisms will be guided by the Implementation Strategy. The objective of the Implementation Strategy is to enable more effective planning and coordination. The main functions of this Implementation Strategy are to:

- Provide for a more detailed action plan/roadmap for the implementation of the Policy, with respect in particular to capacity development and the operationalization of the institutional set-ups required for the different stakeholders involved in Policy implementation, as well as data and information analysis needs
- Provide phased indicative climate change programmes for the priority areas under the policy
- Highlight the roles and responsibilities of the various stakeholders in the implementation of these programming priorities
- Provide indicative costing for these programmes
- Indicate in a more detailed manner potential sources of funding, financial tools to be undertaken and financial management arrangements, including for start-up funding that may be required to kick start the policy implementation process
- Provide for examples of prototype infrastructure designs for key sectors to be impacted by climate change, such as transport and works
- Provide a solid basis for the monitoring and evaluation of the Policy Implementation process

5.2 Legal and Regulatory Framework

The Legal and regulatory framework for climate change provides legitimacy, regulate conduct and establish sanctions that can ensure compliance. For Uganda's NCCP and Implementation Strategy to be fully and effectively implemented, a sound and enabling legislative framework (and an inbuilt institutional framework) must be in place. The absence of such a framework is an obstacle in translating the identified policy priorities into implementable actions with tangible climate change benefits.

The Constitution of the Republic of Uganda, 1995 as amended in 2005 makes the government accountable to the people of Uganda. The constitution provides a starting point for developing the climate change policy for Uganda and provides an overall regulatory framework for the implementation of the Policy. Objective X111 of the Uganda Constitution advocates for the management of the environment for sustainable development. Article 39 states that 'every Ugandan has a right to a clean and healthy environment. Article 245 states that "Parliament shall, by law, provide for measures intended: (a) to protect and preserve the environment from abuse, pollution and degradation; (b) to manage the environment for sustainable development; and (c) to promote environmental awareness.

As already mentioned in Section 1.2 of this document, Uganda is a signatory to the UNFCCC also ratified the Kyoto Protocol. By signing and ratifying both the UNFCCC and the Kyoto Protocol, Uganda has committed to the adoption and implementation of policies and measures designed to mitigate climate change and adapt to its impacts. At regional level, Uganda is party to the East African Community climate change policy which urges member countries to develop consistent national policies to ensure harmonised action.

Uganda has been very keen to explore the opportunities presented by climate change related challenges. The Ministry of Water and Environment has particularly sought to ensure that the development agenda of the GoU responds to the emerging trends of global warming and, to how Uganda could better contribute to the common objective, and to position herself as a leader within the Africa region.

In addition, Uganda is keen to include climate resilience in its development programmes. The National Development Plan (NDP) 2010/11–2014/15 serves as the single most powerful guide for investment planning, budget allocation and social interventions in the country. All government programmes are linked to the NDP within the existing policy, legal, planning, monitoring and reporting systems. The NDP mainstreams climate change into the development plans, policies and budgets of all sectors. Since the NDP is being revised, climate change policy intervations can be provided for in the next five year NDP so that sectors can plan and budget for them. In addition, the Uganda Vision 2040 also recognises the need to promote climate change resilience and low carbon development pathways.

Uganda is adequately represented at various international conferences on climate change to keep abreast with developments in global and regional thinking and decisions on climate response measures, as have been deliberated and agreed by the parties. Since Uganda joined the global community on climate, government has been making strides towards fulfilling its obligations under the climate change convention and the Kyoto Protocol.

Uganda has put in place a number of sectoral policies that are related to climate change, including:

1. The National Disaster Preparedness and Management Policy, 2010

- 2. The Oil and Gas Policy, 2008;
- 3. The National Adaptation Programmes of Action (NAPA), 2007
- 4. The Renewable Energy Policy 2007
- 5. The Energy Policy 2002
- 6. The National Health Policy
- 7. The Water Policy, 1999
- 8. National Forestry Policy 2001
- 9. National Environment Management Policy 1994

Uganda has enacted the following national policies legislation amongst, that are relevant to climate change, among others:

- 1. Uganda National Meteorological Authority Act, 2012
- 2. The Physical Planning act, 2010
- 3. The National Agricultural Research Act 2005
- 4. The Land Act (Amendment Act, 2004
- 5. National Forestry and Tree Planting act, 2003
- 6. National Planning authority Act 2002
- 7. The National environment Act, 1995
- 8. The Water Act, 1997
- 9. Uganda Wildlife Act, 1995

In addition a number of statutory regulations on environment are in place

- 1. The National Environment (Waste Management) Regulations, 1999.
- 2. The Soil Conservation Measures and Guidelines, 2000;
- 3. The National Environment (Mountainous and Hilly Areas Management);
- 4. The National Environment (Wetlands, River Banks and Lake Shores Management) Regulations; among others.

In terms of the various sectoral regulatory frameworks in place in Uganda, the disaster preparedness and management and the health and environment (NEMA) sectors make provisions to tackle climate change. In addition, the forest, land, water and energy sectors' regulatory frameworks are compatible with the climate change policy.

However, many of the above policies and laws do not adequately address climate change. There is therefore need for broader analysis regarding the legislative and regulatory framework to come up with a an enabling Legislative and Institutional Framework for Climate Change Response in Uganda.

In view of the above, and arising from the consultations conducted in the policy development process, two options are recommended for providing a legal framework for climate change in Uganda: (i) amending the National Environment Act, 1995 to cater for climate change; and (ii) Providing an overarching stand alone Climate Change Law.

5.2.1 Amending the National Environment Act, 1995

A number of stakeholders prefer amendment of the National Environment Act, 1995 to provide a section on climate change regal and institutional framework. This is cost-effective in the sence that the process and costs of enacting a new law can be avoided. The limitation with this option is that climate change issues could be shadowed in environment issues. This would make climate change to

lose the prominence it needs for getting due attention and in that case the business as usual approach could continue.

5.3 Climate Change Law

Considering the global and national complex dimensions of climate change which require very robust institutional and legal frameworks to address the growing challenges of climate, enacting an overreaching stand alone legal framework for climate change is recommended as an another option. This is alo the preferred option by the CCU and the Ministry of Water and Environment and othe stakeholders. The need for Climate Change Law is justified by the following

- The GoU signed and ratified both the UNFCCC. The convention requires member states to demonstrate action on climate change by domesticating the UNFCCC provisions in national legislations
- At international level, a separate framework, the UNFCCC, was created to avoid shadowing climate change under the World Meteorological Convention or the Hyogo Framework of action.
 This was intended to give climate change prominence and due attention.
- The EAC climate change policy calls on member states to have climate change stand-alone policies and laws. It also calls on member states to create climate change funds
- which in effects needs legislation
- Although there are a number of CDM and carbon mechanisms initiatives in Uganda from wich
 the GoU can get levies, there is no legal framework to guide GoU on how it can generate funds
 from these projects. In Tanzania, for example in the government has put in place a 2% levy on all
 CDM and carbon projects. Uganda needs legislation to guide this initiative.
- Climate change is cross-cutting and is both an environment and development issue. Therefore to
 avoid scattered actions over sectors in terms of policy and legislation, a new overarching climate
 change law is necessary.
- Some countries have even gone further to create fully fledged ministries for climate change; a case in point is Denmark and Malawi.

A stand-alone Climate Change Law will facilitate direction, coordination, policy setting and high-level political prioritization in order to mainstream climate change across government functions. The overarching legislative framework will need to take account of all necessary institutional and financial considerations for effective climate change response. In summary, the law will provide:

- 1. A framework for the implementation of global obligations arising from relevant international conventions, protocols and agreements;
- 2. A framework to enhance the resilience of human and ecological systems to the impacts of climate change taking into consideration of the Constitution of the republic of Uganda;
- 3. For the mainstreaming the principle of sustainable development in the planning and making of decisions on climate change;
- 4. A contribution towards the global efforts of combating climate change and facilitate approaches that support low carbon climate resilient development.
- 5. A framework for the governance, coordination and financing of climate change at all levels.

However, the stand-alone law needs to be accompanied with, or followed by, a series of sectoral legislative and regulatory reviews reforms (review policies and laws already mentioned above) that

enable implementation of all NCCAP priority actions. This will be done in consultation with the various ministries and agencies to bring sectoral legislation in harmony with the framework law.

5.4 Financing and Resource Mobilisation

Policy-Specific Objective 6:

To facilitate the mobilisation of financial resources to address climate change in Uganda

A detailed estimate of the costs over the short and medium term for implementing the various climate change policy measures outlined within this document was be carried out as part of the development of the costed Implementation Strategy for this policy. Since a number of the strategic directions to be supported fall under sectoral work plans, the costing exercise focusses on the purely additional cost due to the integration of climate change into the various sector plans.

The costed Strategy also examines in detail the various financial instruments best suited to support specific types of strategic measures and actions, in order to provide more guidance for policy implementation. The costed Strategy can then be used by the various national and international partners to make decisions as to which priority investments they are prepared to support nationally and by sector.

It is clear that the funding for these policy priorities will come from various public and private sources. The main sources and financial instruments that can be tackled are detailed in the costed Implementation Plan and include the following:

- National and sectoral investment plans and budgets, as climate change concerns are mainstreamed and leveraged through various investment plans
- Private-sector investment, particularly with respect to energy, industrial developments and technology transfer
- Multilateral and bilateral donor support, as well as support from international climate funds, particularly with respect to issues of capacity development, technical assistance and awareness raising
- Market-based mechanisms for climate-related actions, such as Clean Development Mechanisms, benefit-sharing schemes under REDD+, emissions-trading revenues, tax incentive and tariff schemes
- Payment for Ecosystem Services schemes, which is the practice of offering incentives to farmers or landowners in exchange for managing their land to provide some sort of ecological service. PES programmes promote the conservation of natural resources in the marketplace.

6 Monitoring, Reporting and Evaluation

Monitoring and reporting are essential to ensure effectiveness and accountability of climate change actions for development in Uganda. Three key aspects of monitoring and reporting are of particular relevance.

First, planning, implementation and decision-making on effective use of resources all require monitoring and evaluation, with baselines and indicators. In general, a set of tools is used before the intervention takes place, or after the intervention, tracking expected or realized outcomes. This helps to ensure that resources for development are well spent, and that the results are communicated back to decision makers and stakeholders for future action.

The Guide to Policy Development and Management in Uganda states that monitoring and evaluation (M&E) is an integral part of policy formulation and implementation in Uganda. The expectation is that the development of the national climate change policy, its institutions and implementation will fall under the existing M&E systems. Climate change interventions need to be linked to the delivery of sectoral development objectives and be consistent with national priorities. However, monitoring and reporting on these interventions will require the strengthening of existing M&E systems and development of a Performance Measurement Framework (PMF) for implementing the climate change policy and strategy as described in the implementation strategy of this policy.

Secondly, given Uganda's physical location within the complex East African climate system, where especially future rainfall patterns are hard to predict, the adequate monitoring of climatic changes and their impacts is crucial. This is needed in order to plan targeted adaptation interventions and track their appropriateness and cost effectiveness in a changing climate. For example, currently Uganda does not have central system to record disaster impacts at national level, which undermines disaster preparedness. There is a need for systematic observation systems for disaster response. Networks for the transmission of data from stations to monitoring centres and early warning information from monitoring centres to end users (especially rural communities) need to also be strengthened.

Thirdly, the concept of 'Measurement, Reporting and Verification' (MRV) which emerged from international climate negotiations, is relevant for Uganda, when receiving international support for its voluntary contributions to tackle climate change. The concept includes a registry to keep track of whether the international support promised is really being provided, as well as monitoring whether climate change interventions are in operation, how successful they are and to what extent they reduce emissions and create effective adaptation. The development of relevant gender sensitive indicators as part of Uganda's monitoring and reporting system is also crucial.

An effective MRV system for Uganda's REDD+ activities would, for example, enable the country to access larger scale international support, but needs international support for building the required institutional and technical capacity. In addition, a REDD+ system needs to link to a wider national system for MRV to avoid duplication and increase coherence, especially with changes in reporting needs for all stakeholders.

The full M&E Framework for the implementation of this policy builds on the draft costed Implementation Strategy presented in Annex C and is elaborated upon in the strategy document itself. The M&E Framework is clearly linked to the planned outcomes and outputs of this strategy and the roadmap to implementation that it outlines. It is instrumental in ensuring the full implementation of the policy by the various stakeholders involved. The M&E Framework provides a

basis to later develop specific performance indicators and targets for each policy priority and strategic action by sector, and proposes accountabilities for the actors that are tasked to implement them.

Each ministry, department, and agency for which specific accountabilities will be identified, will have to ensure enforcement of the relevant policy priorities and measures, using means and mechanisms at its disposal as well as those identified in the costed Implementation Strategy.

In addition to monitoring and enforcement against the M&E Framework, the implementation of the policy will undergo an independent external evaluation in 5 years' time. The recommendations resulting from this evaluation will then feed into the revision process for the policy. This revision is to be carried out based on a thorough public consultation process and review of the results at that point in time.

Annex A: Glossary

Adaptation Adjustment in natural or human systems in response to actual or expected

climatic stimuli or their effects, which moderates harm or exploits

beneficial opportunities

Afforestation The direct, human-induced conversion of land that has been unforested for

at least 50 years to forested land through planting, seeding and/or humaninduced promotion of natural seed sources; This is distinct from reforestation, which is defined as the conversion of land that has been

unforested since at least 31 December 1989 to forested land

Afforestation and reforestation (A/R)

The title given to the class of projects devoted to planting trees on unforested land to provide carbon emissions reduction and other

environmental benefits

Biofuels Renewable fuels made from plants that can be used to supplement or

replace the fossil fuels (petroleum and diesel) used for transport; The two main biofuels are ethanol and biodiesel: ethanol is produced from the fermentation of sugar or starch from crops such as corn and sugar cane, and biodiesel is made from animal fats or from vegetable oils from crops

such as soy bean

Carbon neutral Responsible for no net emissions of greenhouse gases, whether as an

individual, household or organisation; To achieve carbon neutrality, emissions must be reduced to a minimum and any remaining emissions must be offset by emission-reducing activities carried out elsewhere; Buying accredited clean electricity helps to reduce household or office greenhouse emissions, while investments in sustainable energy projects

and afforestation schemes are examples of offsets

Carbon sequestration The incorporation of carbon dioxide into permanent plant tissues

Carbon sink A feature where carbon dioxide is removed from the atmosphere; The

major natural carbon sinks are forests and oceans, which have processes

A Kyoto Protocol initiative under which projects that are set up in

that absorb CO₂

Clean Development

Mechanism (CDM) developing countries to reduce greenhouse gas emissions generate

tradable credits called CERs (certified emission reductions), the first step towards a global carbon market; These credits can be used by industrialised nations to offset carbon emissions at home and meet their Kyoto reduction targets; CDM projects include renewable energy generation, reforestation

and clean fuels switching

Climate change Any significant change in measures of climate, such as temperature,

precipitation or wind, lasting for an extended period (decades or longer); This report refers to climate change induced by human activities that change the atmosphere's composition (e.g., burning fossil fuels) or the land's surface (e.g., deforestation, reforestation, urbanisation,

desertification, etc.)

Emissions trading

A form of carbon pricing creating a market-based system for regulating the emission of greenhouse gas; The quantity of emissions is controlled and the price is allowed to vary by the issuing of tradable emissions permits; These rights to emit can be traded in a commercial market under an emissions trading scheme

Greenhouse gas (GHG)

Any gas that absorbs infrared radiation in the atmosphere, including (but not limited to) water vapour, carbon dioxide (CO_2), methane (CH_4), nitrous oxide (N_2O), chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs), hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs), hydrochlorofluorocarbons (HCFCs), ozone (O_3), perfluorocarbons (PFCs) and sulphur hexafluoride (SF_6)

Kyoto Protocol

The agreement reached in Kyoto in 1997 committing developed countries and countries making the transition to a market economy (Annex I counties) to achieve quantified targets for decreasing their emissions of greenhouse gases

Land use, land-use change and forestry (LULUCF)

The title given to the sector comprising reforestation, afforestation, land clearing and agriculture; Each of these activities can make significant contributions to atmospheric carbon emission and/or removal

Low-carbon development

Actions that make a contribution towards stabilising levels of CO₂ and other greenhouse gases at a level that will not cause dangerous climate change

Mitigation

The reduction and/or avoidance of emission of greenhouse gases into the atmosphere, through financing and implementing low-carbon technologies, programmes and projects

Nationally Appropriate Mitigation

(NAMAs)

Actions

The central concept in the international climate change negotiations on developing country emission reductions; The NAMAs first appeared in the Bali Action Plan (2007) as "nationally appropriate mitigation actions by developing country Parties in the context of sustainable development, supported and enabled by technology, financing and capacity-building, in a measurable, reportable and verifiable manner"

REDD+

REDD stands for "Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and forest degradation in Developing countries." REDD+ goes beyond this and calls for activities with serious implications directed towards the local communities, indigenous people and forests which relate to reducing emission from deforestation and forest degradation. Therefore this will involve enhancing existing forests and increasing forest cover. In order to meet these objectives, policies need to address enhancement of carbon stocks by providing funding and investments in these areas

Reforestation

The direct, human-induced conversion of land that was once forested but was converted to non-forested land and has remained unforested since at least 31 December 1989 to forested land through planting, seeding and/or human-induced promotion of natural seed sources; This is distinct from afforestation, which is defined as the conversion of land that has been unforested for at least 50 years to forested land

tCO₂

A tonne of carbon dioxide or an equivalent standard measure or unit of other greenhouse gas; It is a measure used to describe how much global warming a given type and amount of greenhouse gas may cause, using the functionally equivalent amount or concentration of carbon dioxide (CO₂) as a reference

Framework Convention Climate Change (UNFCCC)

The United Nations An international agreement for action on climate change, drawn up in 1992; The framework was agreed upon for action aimed at stabilising atmospheric concentrations of greenhouse gases; The UNFCCC entered into force on March 1994 and currently has 192 signatory parties; The UNFCCC was updated with the Kyoto Protocol in 1997 to implement emission reductions in industrialised countries until 2012 and is currently seeking the negotiation of a new treaty to extend commitments beyond 2012

Tonne A metric ton; equal to 1,000 kg

21 December 2012 52

